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UNITED STATES
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FORM 10-K

x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009
or
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Delaware 90-0023731
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

2930 W. Sam Houston Parkway N. #300

Houston, TX 77043
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant�s telephone number, including area code (713) 849-9911

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value New York Stock Exchange, Inc.

5.25% Convertible Senior Notes New York Stock Exchange, Inc.
Due 2028 and guarantees

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ¨  No x

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ¨  No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x  No ¨

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for
such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes ¨  No ¨

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant�s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in
Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer ¨
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Non-accelerated filer  x (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ¨  No x

The aggregate market value of voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2009 (based on the closing market price on the
Composite Tape on June 30, 2009) was approximately $45,224,000 (determined by subtracting the number of shares held by affiliates of Flotek
Industries, Inc. on that date from the total number of shares outstanding on that date). At March 16, 2010, there were 24,215,283 outstanding
shares of Flotek Industries, Inc. common stock, $0.0001 par value.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required in Part III of the Annual Report on Form 10-K is incorporated by reference to the registrant�s definitive proxy statement
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A for the registrant�s 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We have included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and from time to time our management may make, statements that may constitute
�forward-looking statements� within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Forward-looking statements are not historical facts but instead represent only our current belief regarding future events, many of which, by their
nature, are inherently uncertain and outside our control. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are based on
information as of the date of this Annual Report. Many of these forward looking statements relate to future industry trends, actions, future
performance or results of current and anticipated initiatives and the outcome of contingencies and other uncertainties that may have a significant
impact on our business, future operating results and liquidity. We try, whenever possible, to identify these statements by using words such as
�anticipate,� �believe,� �estimate,� �continue,� �intend,� �expect,� �plan,� �forecast,� �project� and similar expressions, for future-tense or conditional constructions
(�will,� �may,� �should,� �could,� etc.). We caution you that these statements are only predictions and are not guarantees of future performance. These
forward-looking statements and our actual results, developments and business are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results and events to differ materially from those anticipated by these statements. By identifying these statements for you in this manner,
we are alerting you to the possibility that our actual results may differ, possibly materially, from the anticipated results indicated in these
forward-looking statements. We assume no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information or future events, except as required by law. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ from those in the
forward-looking statements include, among others, those discussed under �Item 1A. Risk Factors,� �Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,� and those described elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and from time to time in
our future reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ii
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PART I

Item 1. Business.
General

Flotek Industries, Inc. is a diversified global supplier of drilling and production related products and services to the oil and gas industry. Our
core focus is oilfield specialty chemicals and logistics, downhole drilling tools and downhole production tools. On December 27, 2007, our
common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange (�NYSE�) under the stock ticker symbol �FTK.� Our website is located at
http://www.flotekind.com. We make available free of charge on or through our internet website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�), as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such material
with, or furnishing it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�). Information contained in our website or links contained on our website
are not part of this filing. As used herein, �Flotek,� �Company,� �we,� �our� and �us� may refer to Flotek Industries, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries. The use of
these terms is not intended to connote any particular corporate status or relationships.

Historical Developments

Flotek was originally incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on May 17, 1985. On October 23, 2001, we approved a
change in our corporate domicile to the state of Delaware and a reverse stock split of 120 to 1. On October 31, 2001, we completed a reverse
merger with CESI Chemical, Inc. (�CESI�). Since that date, we have grown through a series of acquisitions.

For information relating to our acquisitions during 2008 and 2007, refer to Part II, �Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations� and Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, �Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.�

Description of Operations

Our business is organized into three strategic business units or segments: Chemicals and Logistics, Drilling Products and Artificial Lift. Each
segment offers various products and services and requires different technology and marketing strategies. All three segments market products
domestically and internationally.

For financial information regarding each segment and geographic areas in which we operate, see Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.�

Chemicals and Logistics

The chemical business offers a full spectrum of oil field and gas field specialty chemicals used for drilling, cementing, stimulation, and
production designed to maximize recovery from both new and mature fields. Our specialty chemicals are key to the success of this business
segment. Our specialty chemicals have enhanced performance characteristics and are manufactured to withstand a wide range of downhole
pressures, temperatures and other well-specific conditions. We operate two laboratories, a technical services laboratory and a research and
development laboratory, which focus on design, development and testing of new chemical formulations and enhancement of existing products,
often in cooperation with our customers.

Our CESI branded micro-emulsions are patented (US & foreign) and are therefore unique in the oil and gas market. Micro-emulsions are stable
mixtures of oil, water and surface active agents, forming a complex nano-fluid in which the molecules are organized (or assembled) into
nanostructures. The combination of solvent,
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surface active agent(s) and structure provide better well treatment results than the use of solvent and surface active agent(s) alone. CESI�s
micro-emulsions are composed of renewable plant derived cleaning ingredients and oils and are biodegradable. Some of the micro-emulsions
have received approval for use in the North Sea, meeting some of the most stringent oil field environmental standards in the world. CESI�s
micro-emulsions have documented operational and financial benefit in both low permeability sand and shale reservoirs.

Our logistics business designs, project manages and operates automated bulk material handling and loading facilities for oilfield service
companies. These bulk facilities handle oilfield products, including sand and other materials for well-fracturing operations, dry cement and
additives for oil and gas well cementing, and supplies and materials used in oilfield operations, which we blend to customer specification.

Drilling Products

We are a leading provider of downhole drilling tools used in the oilfield, mining, water-well and industrial drilling sectors. We manufacture, sell,
rent and inspect specialized equipment for use in drilling, completion, production and workover activities. Through internal growth and
acquisitions, we have increased the size and breadth of our rental tool inventory and geographic scope of operations so that we now conduct tool
rental operations throughout the United States and in select international markets. Our rental tools include stabilizers, drill collars, reamers,
wipers, jars, shock subs, wireless survey, and measurement while drilling (�MWD�) tools and mud-motors, while equipment sold includes mining
equipment, centralizers and drill bits. We focus our product marketing efforts primarily in the Southeast, Northeast, Mid-Continent and Rocky
Mountain regions of the United States, with international sales currently conducted through third party agents and employees.

Artificial Lift

We provide pumping system components, including electric submersible pumps, or ESPs, gas separators, production valves and services. Our
products address the needs of coal bed methane and traditional oil and gas production to efficiently move gas, oil and other fluids from the
producing horizon to the surface. Several of our Artificial Lift products employ unique technologies to improve well performance. Our patented
Petrovalve product optimizes pumping efficiency in horizontal completions, heavy oil and wells with high liquid to gas ratios. This unique valve
can be placed horizontally, results in increased flow per stroke, and eliminates gas locking by replacing the traditional ball and seat valve that
requires more maintenance. Furthermore, our patented gas separation technology is particularly applicable for coal bed methane production as it
efficiently separates gas and water downhole, ensuring solution gas is not lost in water production. Because gas is separated downhole, it reduces
the environmental impact of escaped gas at the surface. The majority of our products for Artificial Lift are manufactured in China, assembled
domestically and distributed globally.

Seasonality

On an overall basis, our segment operations are not generally affected by seasonality. Certain working capital components may build and recede
during the year reflecting established selling cycles, and business cycles can impact our operations and financial position when compared to
other periods, but we do not consider our operations to be highly seasonal. However, the performance of services in all segments may be
temporarily affected by weather and natural phenomena. Examples of how such phenomena can impact our business include:

� the severity and duration of the winter in North America can have a significant impact on gas storage levels and drilling activity for
natural gas;

� the timing and duration of the spring thaw in Canada directly affects activity levels due to road restrictions; and

� hurricanes can disrupt coastal and offshore operations.

2

Edgar Filing: FLOTEK INDUSTRIES INC/CN/ - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 7



Table of Contents

In addition, the results of operations of the Chemical and Logistics segment are historically stronger in the fourth quarter of the year due to
higher spending near the end of the year by our customers. Also, the results of operations of our Artificial Lift segment are historically weaker in
the second quarter due to restrictions on drilling on federal lands because of the breeding season of certain bird species.

Product Demand and Marketing

The demand for our products and services is generally correlated to the level of natural gas and to a lesser extent oil well drilling activity,
work-over activity and gas production levels, both in the United States and internationally. We market our products primarily through direct
sales to our customers through sales employees with the assistance of operations employees and Company management. We have established
customer relationships which provide for repeat sales in all of our segments. The majority of our marketing is currently conducted within the
United States. Internationally, we operate primarily through agents in Canada, Mexico, Central and South America, the Middle East, and Asia.

Customers

The customers for our products and services include major integrated oil and natural gas companies, independent oil and natural gas companies,
pressure pumping service companies and state-owned national oil companies. One of our customers, Halliburton Company and its affiliated
companies, accounted for 17%, 20% and 21% of our consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. Our top three customers accounted for 22%, 26% and 25% of consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008
and 2007, respectively.

Research and Development

We are engaged in research and development activities directed primarily toward the improvement of existing products and services, the design
of specialized products to meet customer needs and the development of new products, processes and services. We incurred $2.1 million, $1.9
million and $0.8 million in research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. In 2009,
our research and development spending was approximately 1.9% of consolidated revenues. We intend to maintain our near-term research and
development investment at levels consistent with 2009 expenditures.

Backlog

Due to the nature of our business and contracts with our customers, we do not experience any significant amount of backlog orders.

Intellectual Property

We have followed a policy of seeking patent protection both within and outside the United States for products and methods that appear to have
commercial significance and qualify for patent protection. The decision to seek patent protection depends on whether such protection can be
obtained on a cost-effective basis and is likely to be effective in protecting our commercial interests. We believe our patents and trademarks,
together with our trade secrets and proprietary design, manufacturing and operational expertise, are reasonably adequate to protect our
intellectual property and provide for the continued operation of our business. We maintain patents on our production valve design, casing
centralizer design, ProSeries tools, and trade secrets, and have patents pending on certain specialty chemicals. Patents expire at various dates
during 2021 and 2022.

Competition

Our ability to compete in the oilfield services market is dependent on our ability to differentiate our products and services, provide superior
quality and service, and maintain a competitive cost structure. Activity levels in our three segments are driven primarily by current and expected
commodity prices, drilling rig count, oil and gas
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production levels, and customer capital spending allocated for drilling and production. The regions in which we operate are highly competitive.
The competitive environment has intensified as recent mergers among oil and gas companies have reduced the number of available customers.
Additionally, the recent downturn in the economy and commodity prices have caused the market for our services and that of our competitors,
which may vary significantly by geographical region, to contract. Many other oil and gas service companies are larger than we are and have
greater resources than we have. These competitors may be better able to withstand industry downturns, compete on the basis of price and acquire
new equipment and technologies, all of which could affect our revenue and profitability. These competitors compete with us both for customers
and for acquisitions of other businesses. This competition may cause our business to suffer. We believe that competition for contracts and
margins will continue to be intense in the foreseeable future.

Raw Materials

We believe that materials and components used in our servicing and manufacturing operations and purchased for sale are generally available on
the open market and from multiple sources, although collection and transportation of these raw materials to our facilities can be adversely
affected by extreme weather conditions. However, certain raw materials used by our Chemical and Logistics segment in the manufacture of our
patented micro-emulsion chemicals are available from limited sources, and disruptions to our suppliers could materially impact our sales. The
prices we pay for raw materials may be affected by, among other things, energy, steel and other commodity prices; tariffs and duties on imported
materials; foreign currency exchange rates; the general business cycle and global demand. During 2009, the prices of many raw materials
declined; however, we expect to see prices increase in 2010. Higher prices and lower availability of chemicals, steel and other raw materials
used in our business may adversely impact future period sales and margins. Our Drilling Products and Artificial Lift segments purchase the
principal raw material and steel on the open market. Except for a few chemical additives, the raw materials are available in most cases from
several suppliers at market prices. Where we can, we use multiple suppliers, both domestically and internationally, for our key raw materials
purchases.

We also maintain a three to six month supply of key mud-motor inventory parts that are primarily sourced from China as well as an equivalent
amount of stock of parts within our Artificial Lift segment. This inventory stock position approximates the lead time required to secure these
parts in order to avoid disruption of service to our customers.

Government Regulations

We are subject to federal, state and local environmental and occupational safety and health laws and regulations in the United States and other
countries in which we do business. We are subject to numerous environmental, legal, and regulatory requirements related to our operations
worldwide. We strive to comply fully with these requirements and are not aware of any material instances of noncompliance. In the United
States, these laws and regulations include, among others:

� the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act;

� the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act;

� the Clean Air Act;

� the Federal Water Pollution Control Act; and

� the Toxic Substances Control Act.
In addition to the federal laws and regulations, states and other countries where we do business may have numerous environmental, legal, and
regulatory requirements by which we must abide. We evaluate and address the environmental impact of our operations by assessing and
remediating contaminated properties in order to avoid future liabilities and comply with environmental, legal, and regulatory
requirements. Many of the products
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within our Chemicals and Logistics segment are considered hazardous or flammable. If a leak or spill occurs in connection with our operations,
we could incur material costs, net of insurance, to remediate any resulting contamination. On occasion, we are involved in specific
environmental litigation and claims, including the remediation of properties we own or have operated, as well as efforts to meet or correct
compliance-related matters. We do not expect costs related to these remediation requirements to have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial position or our results of operations.

Employees

As of March 16, 2010, we had approximately 320 employees worldwide. None of our employees are covered by collective bargaining
agreements and our labor relations are generally good. In certain international locations, changes in staffing or work arrangements may need
approval of local works councils or other bodies.

Available Information

We maintain a web site at www.flotekind.com. We make available, free of charge, on the �Investor Relations� section of our web site, our Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file or furnish such materials to
the SEC. Additionally, our corporate governance materials, including governance guidelines; the charters of the Audit, Compensation, and
Governance and Nominating Committees; and the code of conduct may also be found under the �Investor Relations� section of our web site at
www.flotekind.com. A copy of the foregoing corporate governance materials is available upon written request.

You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC�s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street NE, Washington, DC 20549.
You may obtain information regarding the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains an
internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC, including
us.

We submitted our 2009 annual CEO certification with the New York Stock Exchange (�NYSE�) on July 9, 2009. The certification was not
qualified in any respect. Additionally, we filed with this Form 10-K the principal executive officer and principal financial officer certifications
required under Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Information with respect to our executive officers and directors is incorporated herein by reference to information included in the Proxy
Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

We have disclosed and intend to continue to disclose any changes or amendments to our code of ethics or waivers from our code of ethics
applicable to our chief executive officer and chief financial officer by controller by posting such changes or waivers to our website.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
This document, our other filings with the SEC, and other materials released to the public contain �forward-looking statements,� as defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. See �Forward-Looking Statements� at the beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These
forward-looking statements may discuss our prospects, expected revenue, expenses and profits, strategies for our operations and other subjects,
including conditions in the oilfield service and oil and natural gas industries and in the United States and international economy in general.

Our forward-looking statements are based on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable, but that may not prove to be accurate. All of our
forward-looking information is, therefore, subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results
expected. Although it is not possible to identify all factors, these risks and uncertainties include the risk factors discussed below.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have not had profitable operations during 2009 and may not be profitable in 2010.

We have experienced net losses during the last two fiscal years, including a loss in each of the four quarters of 2009. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to successfully execute our plan of operations for 2010, and that even if we are successful in execution of our plan, that we
will be profitable in 2010.

Demand for the majority of our services is substantially dependent on the levels of expenditures by the oil and gas industry. Current global
economic conditions continue to result in low oil and gas prices. If current global economic conditions and the availability of credit worsen
or continue for an extended period, this could reduce our customers� levels of expenditures and have a significant adverse effect on our
revenue, margins and overall operating results.

The current global credit and economic environment has reduced worldwide demand for energy and resulted in depressed crude oil and natural
gas prices. A substantial or extended decline in oil and natural gas prices can reduce our customers� activities and their spending on our services
and products. Demand for the majority of our services substantially depends on the level of expenditures by the oil and gas industry for the
exploration, development and production of crude oil and natural gas reserves. These expenditures are sensitive to oil and natural gas prices and
generally dependent on the industry�s view of future oil and gas prices. During the current worldwide deterioration in the financial and credit
markets, demand for oil and gas has reduced dramatically and oil and gas prices have fallen, causing some of our customers to reduce or delay
their oil and gas exploration and production spending. This has reduced the demand for our services and exerted downward pressure on the
prices that we charge. If economic conditions do not improve, it could result in further reductions of exploration and production expenditures by
our customers, causing further declines in the demand for our services and products. This could result in a significant adverse effect on our
operating results. Furthermore, it is difficult to predict how long the economic downturn will continue, to what extent it might worsen, and to
what extent this will continue to affect us.

The reduction in cash flows being experienced by our customers resulting from declines in commodity prices, together with the reduced
availability of credit and increased costs of borrowing due to the tightening of the credit markets, could have significant adverse effects on the
financial condition of some of our customers. This could result in project modifications, delays or cancellations, general business disruptions,
and delay in, or nonpayment of, amounts that are owed to us, which could have a significant adverse effect on our results of operations and cash
flows. Additionally, our suppliers could be negatively impacted by current global economic conditions. If certain of our suppliers were to
experience significant cash flow issues or become insolvent as a result of such conditions, it could result in a reduction or interruption in supplies
or a significant increase in the price of supplies, and adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows.
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The prices for oil and natural gas are subject to a variety of additional factors, including:

� demand for energy, which is affected by worldwide population growth, economic development and general economic and business
conditions;

� the ability of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (�OPEC�) to set and maintain production levels for oil;

� oil and gas production by non-OPEC countries;

� availability and quantity of natural gas storage;

� LNG import volume and pricing;

� pipeline capacity to key markets;

� political and economic uncertainty and socio-political unrest;

� the level of worldwide oil exploration and production activity;

� the cost of exploring for, producing and delivering oil and gas;

� technological advances affecting energy consumption; and

� weather conditions.
Our business depends primarily on domestic spending by the oil and gas industry, and this spending and our business may be adversely
affected by industry conditions or by new or increased government regulations that are beyond our control.

We depend primarily on our customers� willingness to make operating and capital expenditures to explore for, develop and produce oil and gas in
the United States. Customers� expectations of market prices for oil and gas may curtail spending thereby reducing demand for our products and
services. Industry conditions in the United States are influenced by numerous factors over which we have no control, such as the supply of and
demand for oil and gas, domestic and international economic conditions, political instability in oil and gas producing countries and merger and
divestiture activity among oil and gas producers. The volatility of the oil and gas industry and the consequent effect on exploration and
production activity could adversely affect the level of drilling and production activity by some of our customers. One indication of drilling and
production activity and spending is rig count, which the company monitors to gauge market conditions. A reduction in drilling may cause a
decline in the demand for, or adversely affect the price of, our products and services. Reduced discovery rates of new oil and gas reserves in our
market areas could also have a negative long-term impact on our business, even in an environment of stronger oil and gas prices. In addition,
domestic demand for oil and gas may be uniquely affected by public attitudes regarding drilling in environmentally sensitive areas, vehicle
emissions and other environmental standards, alternative fuels, taxation of oil and gas and �excess profits� of oil and gas companies, and the
potential changes in governmental regulation and policy that may result from such public attitudes.
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We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows, to meet our debt service obligations or other liquidity needs, and we may not be able to
successfully negotiate waivers or a new credit agreement to cure any covenant violations under our current credit agreements.

On several occasions we have failed to meet, or have projected that we would in the future fail to meet, the financial covenant requirements in
our bank credit facility. We have been required on these occasions to seek waivers of such covenant violations and amendments to our bank
credit facility to modify these covenants. Most recently, we were not in compliance with certain of the financial covenants in our bank credit
agreement as of December 31, 2009.

Our ability to generate sufficient cash flows from operations to make scheduled payments or mandatory prepayments on our current debt
obligations and other future debt obligations we may incur will depend on our future financial performance, which may be affected by a range of
economic, competitive, regulatory and
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industry factors, many of which are beyond our control. If as a result of our financial performance or other events we violate the financial
covenants in our debt agreements or are unable to generate sufficient cash flows or otherwise obtain the funds required to make principal and
interest payments on our indebtedness, we may have to seek waivers of these covenants from our lenders or undertake alternative financing
plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our debt, selling assets, reducing or delaying capital expenditures or seeking to raise additional capital
through the issuance of debt securities or other securities. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain any required waivers from our
lenders or that we will be able to accomplish any necessary refinancing, sale of assets or issuance of securities on terms that are acceptable. Our
inability to obtain any required waivers, to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy such obligations, or to refinance our obligations on
commercially reasonable terms, would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The tightening of the credit markets or a downgrade in our credit ratings could increase our borrowing costs and make it more difficult for us to
access funds, to refinance our existing indebtedness, to enter into agreements for new indebtedness or to obtain funding through the issuance of
securities. If such conditions were to persist, we would seek alternative sources of liquidity, but may not be able to meet our obligations as they
become due.

Our debt agreements also contain representations, warranties, fees, affirmative and negative covenants, and default provisions. A breach of any
of these covenants could result in a default under these agreements. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under our debt agreements, the
lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable and terminate all commitments to extend further credit.
If the lenders accelerate the repayment of borrowings, we may not have sufficient assets to repay our indebtedness. Also, should there be an
event of default, or should we need to obtain waivers following an event of default, we may be subject to higher borrowing costs and/or more
restrictive covenants in future periods. Acceleration of any obligation under any of our material debt instruments will permit the holders of our
other material debt to accelerate their obligations.

On March 31, 2010, we entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with new lenders which refinanced our existing bank credit
facility. The new credit agreement restricts the payment of dividends and does not contain a revolving line of credit facility, however, it does not
contain quarterly or annual covenants. See �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,� Note 19 of our consolidated financial
statements for a description of our new senior credit facility.

Our new senior credit facility contains certain covenants that could limit our flexibility and prevent us from taking certain actions, which
could adversely affect our ability to execute our business strategy.

Our new senior credit facility, as amended includes a number of significant restrictive covenants. These covenants could adversely affect us by
limiting our ability to plan for or react to market conditions, meet our capital needs and execute our business strategy. The new senior credit
facility contains covenants that, among other things, limit our ability, without the consent of the lender, to:

� incur certain types and amounts of additional debt;

� consolidate, merge or sell our assets or materially change the nature of our business;

� pay dividends on capital stock and make restricted payments;

� make voluntary prepayments, or materially amend the terms, of subordinated debt;

� enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;

� make certain investments;
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� make certain capital expenditures; and

� incur certain liens.
These covenants may restrict our operating and financial flexibility and limit our ability to respond to changes in our business or competitive
activities. If we fail to comply with these covenants, we could be in default, and our new senior credit facility lender could elect to declare all the
amounts borrowed and due to them, together with
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accrued and unpaid interest, to be due and payable. In addition, we or one or more of our subsidiaries could be forced into liquidation or
bankruptcy. Any of the foregoing consequences could restrict our ability to execute our business strategy. In addition, such default and
acceleration of our new senior credit facility could lead to a default under our convertible senior notes.

Our future success and profitability may be adversely affected if we or our suppliers fail to develop and introduce new and innovative
products and services that appeal to our customers.

The oil and gas drilling industry is characterized by continual technological developments that have resulted in, and likely will continue to result
in, substantial improvements in the scope and quality of oilfield chemicals, drilling and artificial lift products and services and product function
and performance. As a result, our future success depends, in part, upon our and our suppliers� continued ability to develop and introduce new and
innovative products and services beyond our patented micro-emulsion surfactant line to address the increasingly sophisticated needs of our
customers and anticipate and respond to technological and industry advances in the oil and gas drilling industry in a timely manner. If we or our
suppliers fail to successfully develop and introduce new and innovative products and services that appeal to our customers, or if new market
entrants or our competitors offer such products and services, our revenue and profitability may suffer.

We intend to pursue strategic acquisitions, which could have an adverse impact on our business.

Our business strategy includes growing our business through strategic acquisitions of complementary businesses as our capital structure permits.
Acquisitions that we have made or that we may make in the future may entail a number of risks that could adversely affect our business and
results of operations. The process of negotiating potential acquisitions or integrating newly acquired businesses into our business could divert
our management�s attention from other business concerns and could be expensive and time consuming. Acquisitions could expose our business to
unforeseen liabilities or risks associated with entering new markets or businesses. Consequently, we might not be successful in integrating our
acquisitions into our existing operations, which may result in unforeseen operational difficulties or diminished financial performance or require a
disproportionate amount of our management�s attention and resources. Even if we are successful in integrating our acquisitions into our existing
operations, we may not derive the benefits, such as operational or administrative synergies, that we expect from such acquisitions, which may
result in the commitment of capital resources without the anticipated returns on such capital. In addition, we may not be able to continue to
identify attractive acquisition opportunities or successfully acquire identified targets. Competition for acquisition opportunities may escalate,
increasing our cost of making further acquisitions or causing us to refrain from making additional acquisitions. We also must meet certain
financial covenants in order to borrow money under our new senior credit facility to fund future acquisitions and to borrow for other purposes
which, if not met, could prevent us from making future acquisitions.

If we do not manage the potential difficulties associated with expansion successfully, our operating results could be adversely affected.

We have grown over the last several years through internal growth and strategic acquisitions of other businesses and assets. We believe our
future success depends, in part, on our ability to adapt to market opportunities and changes and to successfully integrate the operations of the
businesses we acquire. The following factors could present difficulties to our business going forward:

� lack of sufficient experienced management personnel;

� increased administrative burdens;

� customer retention;

� technology obsolescence and

� increased infrastructure, technological, communication and logistical problems common to large, expansive operations.
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If we do not manage these potential difficulties successfully, our operating results could be adversely affected. In addition, we may have
difficulties managing the increased costs associated with growth, which could adversely affect our operating margins.

Our ability to grow and compete in the future will be adversely affected if adequate capital is not available.

The ability of our business to grow and compete depends on the availability of adequate capital, which in turn depends in large part on our cash
flow from operations and the availability of equity and debt financing. We cannot assure you that our cash flow from operations will be
sufficient or that we will be able to obtain equity or debt financing on acceptable terms or at all to implement our growth strategy. For example,
our new senior credit facility restricts our ability to incur additional indebtedness, including borrowings to fund future acquisitions, a key
component of our growth strategy. As a result, we cannot assure you that adequate capital will be available to finance our current growth plans,
take advantage of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, any of which could harm our business.

Our current insurance policies may not be adequate to protect our business from all potential risks.

Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and gas industry, such as, but not limited to, accidents, blowouts, explosions, fires,
severe weather, oil and chemical spills and other hazards. These conditions can cause personal injury or loss of life, damage to property,
equipment and the environment, and suspension of oil and gas operations of our customers. Litigation arising from a catastrophic occurrence at a
location where our equipment, products or services are being used may result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting large
claims. We maintain insurance coverage that we believe to be customary in the industry against these hazards. However, we do not have
insurance against all foreseeable risks, either because insurance is not available or because of high premium costs. In addition, we may not be
able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable. As a result, losses and liabilities arising from uninsured or
underinsured events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to complex foreign, federal, state and local environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, which expose us to costs
and liabilities that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operations are subject to foreign, federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to, among other things, the protection of natural
resources and the environment, health and safety, waste management and transportation of waste and other materials. Our operations, including
our Chemicals and Logistics segment, which involves chemical manufacturing, packaging, handling and delivery operations, pose risks of
environmental liability that could result in fines and penalties, expenditures for remediation, and liability for property damage and personal
injuries. In order to conduct our operations in compliance with these laws and regulations, we must obtain and maintain permits, approvals and
certificates from various foreign, federal, state and local governmental authorities. Sanctions for noncompliance with such laws and regulations
may include assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, revocation of permits and issuance of corrective action orders. We may
incur substantial costs in order to maintain compliance with these existing laws and regulations. Laws protecting the environment generally have
become more stringent over time and are expected to continue to do so, which could lead to material increases in costs for future environmental
compliance and remediation. In addition, our costs of compliance may increase if existing laws and regulations are amended or reinterpreted.
Such amendments or reinterpretations of existing laws or regulations or the adoption of new laws or regulations could curtail exploratory or
developmental drilling for and production of oil and gas which, in turn, could limit demand for our products and services. Some environmental
laws and regulations may also impose joint and strict liability, which means that in some situations we could be exposed to liability as a result of
our conduct that was lawful at the time it occurred or conduct of, or conditions caused by, prior operators or other third parties. Clean-up costs
and other damages arising as a result of such laws and regulations could be substantial and have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.
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Material levels of our revenue are derived from customers that engage in hydraulic fracturing services, a process that creates fractures extending
from the well bore through the rock formation to enable natural gas or oil to move more easily through the rock pores to a production well. Bills
pending in the United States House and Senate have asserted that chemicals used in the fracturing process could adversely affect drinking water
supplies. The proposed legislation would require the reporting and public disclosure of chemicals used in the fracturing process. This legislation,
if adopted, could establish an additional level of regulation at the federal level that could lead to operational delays and increased operating
costs. The adoption of any future federal or state laws or implementing regulations imposing reporting obligations on, or otherwise limiting, the
hydraulic fracturing process could make it more difficult to complete natural gas and oil wells and could have an adverse impact on our future
results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Regulation of greenhouse gases and climate change could have a negative impact on our business.

Some scientific studies have suggested that emissions of certain gases, commonly referred to as greenhouse gases and including carbon dioxide
and methane, may be contributing to warming of the Earth�s atmosphere and other climatic changes. In response to such studies, the issue of
climate change and the effect of greenhouse gas emissions, in particular emissions from fossil fuels, is attracting increasing attention worldwide.
Legislative and regulatory measures to address concerns that emissions of greenhouse gases are contributing to climate change are in various
phases of discussions or implementation at the international, national, regional and state levels.

In 2005, the Kyoto Protocol to the 1992 United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which establishes a binding set of emission
targets for greenhouse gases, became binding on the countries that had ratified it. In the United States, federal legislation imposing restrictions
on greenhouse gases is under consideration. Proposed legislation has been introduced that would establish an economy-wide cap on emissions of
greenhouse gases and would require most sources of greenhouse gas emissions to obtain greenhouse gas emission �allowances� corresponding to
their annual emissions. In addition, the Environmental Protection Agency (the �EPA�) is taking steps that would result in the regulation of
greenhouse gases as pollutants under the Clean Air Act. To date, the EPA has issued (i) a �Mandatory Reporting of Greenhouse Gases� final rule,
effective December 29, 2009, which establishes a new comprehensive scheme requiring operators of stationary sources in the United States
emitting more than established annual thresholds of carbon dioxide-equivalent greenhouse gases to inventory and report their greenhouse gas
emissions annually; and (ii) an �Endangerment Finding� final rule, effective January 14, 2010, which states that current and projected
concentrations of six key greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, as well as emissions from new motor vehicles and new motor vehicle engines,
threaten public health and welfare, allowing the EPA to finalize motor vehicle greenhouse gas standards (the effect of which could reduce
demand for motor fuels refined from crude oil). Finally, according to the EPA, the final motor vehicle greenhouse gas standards will trigger
construction and operating permit requirements for stationary sources. As a result, the EPA has proposed to tailor these programs such that only
large stationary sources will be required to have air permits that authorize greenhouse gas emissions.

Existing or future laws, regulations, treaties or international agreements related to greenhouse gases and climate change, including incentives to
conserve energy or use alternative energy sources, could have a negative impact on our operations if such laws, regulations, treaties or
international agreements reduce the worldwide demand for oil and natural gas or otherwise result in reduced economic activity generally. In
addition, such laws, regulations, treaties or international agreements could result in increased compliance costs or additional operating
restrictions, which may have a negative impact on our operations. In addition to potential impacts on our operations directly or indirectly
resulting from climate-change legislation or regulations, our operations also could be negatively affected by climate-change related physical
changes or changes in weather patterns.

If we are unable to adequately protect our intellectual property rights or are found to infringe intellectual property rights of others our
business is likely to be adversely affected.

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarks, non-disclosure agreements and other security measures to establish and protect our intellectual
property rights. Although we believe that those measures are reasonably adequate to protect our intellectual property and provide for the
continued operation of our business, there can be
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no assurance that the measures we have taken, or may take in the future, will prevent misappropriation of our proprietary information or provide
us with a competitive advantage, or that others will not independently develop similar products or services, design around our proprietary or
patented technology or duplicate our products or services. Moreover, there can be no assurance that these protections will be available in all
cases or will be adequate to prevent our competitors from copying, reverse engineering or otherwise obtaining and using our technology,
proprietary rights or products. We have not sought foreign protection corresponding to all of our US intellectual property rights. Consequently,
we may not be able to enforce all of our intellectual property rights outside of the United States. Furthermore, the laws of certain countries in
which our products are manufactured or marketed may not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States.
Third parties may seek to challenge, invalidate or circumvent our patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets. In each case, our ability to
compete could be significantly impaired.

In addition, some of our products are not protected by issued patents. The issuance of a patent does not guarantee that it is valid or enforceable,
so even if we obtain patents, they may not be valid or enforceable against third parties. The issuance of a patent does not guarantee that we have
the right to practice the patented invention. Third parties may have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from marketing our own
patented product and practicing our own patented technology.

We have from time to time received, and may in the future receive, communications alleging possible infringement of patents and other
intellectual property rights of others. Furthermore, we have in the past, and may in the future, become involved in costly litigation or
proceedings brought against us regarding patents or other intellectual property rights. If any such claims are asserted against us, we may seek to
obtain a license under the third party�s intellectual property rights. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain all of the necessary
licenses on satisfactory terms, if at all. In the event that we cannot obtain a license, these parties may file lawsuits against us seeking damages
(potentially including treble damages) or an injunction against the sale of our products that incorporate allegedly infringed intellectual property
or against the operation of our business as presently conducted, which could result in our having to stop the sale of some of our products,
increase the costs of selling some of our products, or cause damage to our reputation. The award of damages, including material royalty
payments, or the entry of an injunction against the manufacture and sale of some or all of our products, could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations and ability to compete.

We and our customers are subject to risks associated with doing business outside of the United States which may expose us to political risk,
foreign exchange risk and other uncertainties.

Revenue from the sale of products to customers outside the United States exceeds 5% of our total annual revenue. We and our customers are
subject to certain risks inherent in doing business outside of the United States, including:

� governmental instability;

� war and other international conflicts,;

� civil and labor disturbances;

� requirements of local ownership;

� partial or total expropriation or nationalization;

� currency devaluation; and

� foreign exchange control and foreign laws and policies, each of which may limit the movement of assets or funds or result in the
deprivation of contract rights or the taking of property without fair compensation.
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law and judicial procedure. We may therefore experience significant difficulty resulting from the political or judicial climate in countries in
which we operate or in which our products are used.
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Our international operations must also comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other applicable United States laws, and we could be
liable under these laws for actions taken by our employees or agents. In addition, from time to time, the United States has passed laws and
imposed regulations prohibiting or restricting trade with certain nations, and the United States government could change these laws or enact new
laws that could restrict or prohibit us from doing business in certain foreign countries.

Although most of our international revenue is derived from transactions denominated in United States dollars, we have conducted and likely will
continue to conduct some business in currencies other than the United States dollar. We currently do not hedge against foreign currency
fluctuations. Accordingly, our profitability could be affected by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. We have no assurance that future laws
and regulations will not materially adversely affect our international business.

The loss of certain key customers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and could result in a decline in our
revenue.

We are dependent on several key customers. During each of the three previous years ended December 31, 2009, over 20% of our consolidated
revenues came from three of our customers. Our customer relationships are typically governed by purchase orders or other short-term contracts
rather than long-term contracts. The loss of one or more of our key customers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
and could result in a decline in our revenue.

The loss of certain key suppliers, our inability to secure raw materials on a timely basis, or our inability to pass commodity price increases on
to our customers could have a material adverse effect on our ability to service our customer�s needs and could result in a loss of customers.

We believe that materials and components used in our servicing and manufacturing operations and purchased for sale are generally available on
the open market and from multiple sources. Acquisition and transportation of these raw materials to our facilities can be adversely affected by
extreme weather conditions. However, certain raw materials used by the Chemical and Logistics segment in the manufacture of our patented
micro-emulsion chemical sales are available from limited sources and disruptions to our suppliers could materially impact our sales. The prices
we pay for our raw materials may be affected by, among other things, energy, steel and other commodity prices; tariffs and duties on imported
materials; foreign currency exchange rates; the general business cycle and global demand. The Drilling Products and Artificial Lift segments
purchase their principal raw materials and steel on the open market and, where we can, we use multiple suppliers, both domestic and
international, for our key raw materials purchases.

We also keep a three- to six-month supply of key mud-motor inventory parts that we source from China. This inventory stock position
approximates the lead time required to secure these parts, thus potentially avoiding disruption of service to our customers. Our inability to secure
these key components in a timely manner at reasonable prices could adversely affect our ability to service our customers. We source the vast
majority of our motor parts from a single supplier. As part of our business plan, we are diligently working to develop relationships with backup
parts suppliers. If we are unsuccessful in developing these relationships, we may be exposed to disruption of key supplies that could result in a
loss of revenues or key customers. Additionally, if our customers were to seek or develop alternative approaches for the products or services we
offer, we could suffer a decline in revenue and loss of key customers.

We currently do not hedge our commodity prices. We may not be able to pass along price increases to our customers, which could result in a
decline in revenue or operating profit.
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Our inability to develop new products or differentiate our products could have a material adverse effect on our ability to service our
customer�s needs and could result in a loss of customers.

Our ability to compete in the oilfield services market is dependent on our ability to differentiate our products and services, provide superior
quality and service, and maintain a competitive cost structure. Activity levels in our three segments are driven primarily by current and expected
commodity prices, drilling rig count, oil and gas production levels, and customer capital spending allocated for drilling and production. The
regions in which we operate are highly competitive. Additionally, the continued depressed economy has resulted in the market for our services
and that of our competitors to remain contracted. Many other oil and gas service companies are larger than we are and have greater resources
than we have. These competitors are better able to withstand industry downturns, compete on the basis of price and acquire new equipment and
technologies, all of which could affect our revenue and profitability. These competitors compete with us both for customers and for acquisitions
of other businesses. This competition may result in pressure on our operating profit. We believe that competition for our products and services
will continue to be intense in the foreseeable future.

If we lose the services of key members of our management, we may not be able to manage our operations and implement our growth strategy
effectively.

We depend on the continued service of our Interim President, our Executive Vice President, Finance and Strategic Planning, and our Executive
Vice President, Business Development and Special Projects, who possess significant expertise and knowledge of our business and industry. We
do not carry key man life insurance on any of these executives. Additionally, we have in place employment agreements with our Interim
President and our Executive Vice President, Finance and Strategic Planning. Any loss or interruption of the services of these or other key
members of our management could significantly reduce our ability to manage our operations effectively and implement our business plan and
strategy, and we cannot assure you that we would be able to find appropriate replacements for key positions should the need arise.

Failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting could have an adverse effect
on our operations and the trading price of our common stock.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, effectively prevent fraud and operate successfully as a public
company. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results could be harmed. If we are unable
to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be able to provide reliable
financial reports or prevent fraud, which, in turn could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective
internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the
trading price of our common stock, limit our ability to access the capital markets in the future and require us to incur additional costs to improve
our internal control systems and procedures.

At December 31, 2009, we reported that we identified control deficiencies that constituted a material weakness in connection with preparation of
our financial statements. We did not maintain an effective control environment during 2009. We have implemented remediation efforts to
address the identified material weakness and to enhance our overall financial control environment. We cannot assure you that our remediation
efforts will be successful.

We did not file our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended June 30 and September 30, 2009 in a timely manner. We filed
requests for an extension of time to file these reports and subsequently filed our Form 10-Qs within the extension period. A failure to file our
reports timely with the SEC will result in our inability to file registration statements using any registration form other than Form S-1, which is
more time consuming and costly to prepare, for a period of time. This limitation, if realized, may hamper our ability to raise capital in the
financial markets. Additionally, the late filing of reports with the SEC would result in a technical default of our various debt obligations.
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Risks Related to Our Industry

The extension of the worldwide recession could continue to have an adverse effect on exploration and production activity and result in lower
demand for our services and products.

The current worldwide financial and credit crisis has reduced the availability of liquidity and credit to fund the continuation and expansion of
industrial business operations worldwide. The shortage of liquidity and credit, combined with continued losses and/or depressed conditions in
the worldwide equity markets, continue to extend the worldwide economic recession. Sluggish economic activity caused by the current sustained
recession continues to maintain worldwide demand for energy at depressed levels resulting in low oil and natural gas prices. Forecasted crude oil
prices for 2010 have not improved significantly. Demand for our services and products depends on oil and natural gas industry activity and
expenditure levels that are directly affected by trends in oil and natural gas prices. Demand for our services and products is particularly sensitive
to the level of exploration, development, and production activity of, and the corresponding capital spending by, oil and natural gas companies,
including national oil companies. One indication of drilling and production activity and spending is rig count, which we monitor to gauge market
conditions. Any prolonged reduction in oil and natural gas prices or drop in rig count will depress the immediate levels of exploration,
development, and production activity. Perceptions of longer-term lower oil and natural gas prices by oil and gas companies can similarly reduce
or defer major expenditures given the long-term nature of many large-scale development projects. Lower levels of activity result in a
corresponding decline in the demand for our oil and natural gas well services and products, which could have a material adverse effect on our
revenue and profitability.

Continuation of the global credit crisis could have an adverse impact on our customers and on our dealings with lenders, insurers and
financial institutions.

Events in the global credit markets have significantly impacted the availability of credit and financing costs for many of our customers. Many of
our customers finance their drilling and production programs through third-party lenders. The reduced availability and increased costs of
borrowing could cause our customers to reduce their spending on drilling programs, thereby reducing demand and potentially resulting in lower
prices for our products and services. Also, the current credit and economic environment could significantly impact the financial condition of
some customers over a period of time, leading to business disruptions and restricting their ability to pay us for services performed, which could
negatively impact our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, an increasing number of financial institutions and insurance companies
have reported significant deterioration in their financial condition. Our forward-looking statements assume that our lenders, insurers and other
financial institutions will be able to fulfill their obligations under our various credit agreements, insurance policies and contracts. If any of our
significant financial institutions were unable to perform under such agreements, and if we were unable to find suitable replacements at a
reasonable cost, our results of operations, liquidity and cash flows could be adversely impacted.

A period of prolonged depressed oil and natural gas prices may result in reduced demand for our products and services which may adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The markets for oil and natural gas have historically been extremely volatile. Such volatility in oil and gas prices, or the perception by our
customers of unpredictability in oil and natural gas prices, adversely affects the spending patterns in our industry. In some circumstances this
volatility may continue to prolong depressed oil and gas prices. We anticipate that our current markets will continue to be volatile in the future
and may continue to prolong depressed oil and gas prices. The demand for our products and services is, in large part, driven by current and
anticipated oil and gas prices and the related general levels of production spending and drilling activity. In particular, depressed oil and gas
prices may cause a decline in exploration and drilling activities. This, in turn, could result in lower demand for our products and services and
may cause lower prices for our products and services. As a result, a prolonged decline in oil or natural gas prices may adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Competition from new and existing competitors within our industry could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

The oil and gas industry is highly competitive and fragmented. Our principal competitors include numerous small companies capable of
competing effectively in our markets on a local basis as well as a number of large companies that possess substantially greater financial and
other resources than we do. Our larger competitors may be able to devote greater resources to developing, promoting and selling their products
and services. We may also face increased competition due to the entry of new competitors including current suppliers that decide to sell their
products and services directly to our customers. As a result of this competition, we may experience lower sales or greater operating costs, which
may have an adverse effect on our margins and results of operations.

Our industry has experienced a high rate of employee turnover. Any difficulty we experience attracting or retaining personnel or agents
could adversely affect our business.

We operate in an industry that has historically been highly competitive in securing qualified personnel with the required technical skills and
experience. Our services require skilled personnel who can perform physically demanding work. Due to industry volatility and the demanding
nature of the work, workers may choose to pursue employment in fields that offer a more desirable work environment at wages that are
competitive with ours. As a result, we may not be able to find enough labor to meet our needs, which could limit our growth. In addition, the
cost of attracting and retaining qualified personnel has increased over the past several years due to competition, and we expect it will continue to
increase in the future. In order to attract and retain qualified personnel we may be required to offer increased wages and benefits. If we are not
able to increase the prices of our products and services to compensate for increases in compensation, or if we are unable to attract and retain
qualified personnel, our operating results could be adversely affected.

Severe weather could have a material adverse impact on our business.

Our business could be materially and adversely affected by severe weather. Hurricanes, tropical storms, blizzards and cold weather and other
weather hazards may cause the curtailment of services, damages to our equipment and facilities, interruptions in the transportation of our
products and materials in accordance with contract schedules and loss of productivity. If our customers are unable to operate or are required to
reduce their operations due to severe weather, and as a result curtail the purchases of our products and services, our business could be materially
adversely affected.

A terrorist attack or armed conflict could harm our business.

Terrorist activities, anti-terrorist efforts and other armed conflict involving the United States may adversely affect the United States and global
economies and could prevent us from meeting our financial and other obligations. We may experience loss of business, delays or defaults in
payments from payers, or disruptions of fuel supplies and markets if pipelines, production facilities, processing plants and refineries are direct
targets or indirect casualties of an act of terror or war. In addition, such activities could reduce the overall demand for oil and natural gas which,
in turn, could reduce the demand for our products and services. We have implemented certain security measures in response to the threat of
terrorist activities. Terrorist activities and the threat of potential terrorist activities and any resulting economic downturn could adversely affect
our results of operations, impair our ability to raise capital or otherwise adversely impact our ability to execute our business strategy.

Risks Related to Our Securities

The market price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile.

The market price of our common stock has historically been subject to significant fluctuations. The following factors, among others, could cause
the price of our common stock in the public market to fluctuate significantly:

� variations in our quarterly results of operations;
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� changes in market valuations of companies in our industry;

� fluctuation in stock market prices and volume;

� fluctuation in oil and natural gas prices;

� issuance of common stock or other securities in the future;

� the addition or departure of key personnel; and

� announcements by us or our competitors of new business, acquisitions or joint ventures.
The stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations in recent years that have significantly affected the prices of the
common stock of many companies, including companies in our industry. The changes can occur without regard to specific operating
performance. The price of our common stock could continue to fluctuate based upon factors that have little to do with our company, and these
fluctuations could materially reduce our stock price. Class action lawsuits have frequently been brought against companies following periods of
volatility in the market price of their common stock. Currently, we have been named in a legal case of this type, which could be expensive and
divert management�s attention and company resources, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

An active market for our common stock may not continue to exist or may not continue to exist at current trading levels.

Trading volume for our common stock has historically been low when compared to companies with larger market capitalizations. We cannot
assure you that an active trading market for our common stock will develop or be sustained. Sales of significant amounts of shares of our
common stock in the public market could lower the market price of our stock.

If we do not meet the New York Stock exchange continued listing requirements, our common stock may be delisted, which could have an
adverse impact on the liquidity and market price of our common stock.

Our common stock is currently listed on the New York Stock Exchange (�NYSE�). Under the NYSE�s continued listing standards, a company is
considered to be below compliance standards if, among other things, (i) both its average global market capitalization is less than $50 million
over a 30 trading-day period and its stockholders� equity is less than $50 million; (ii) its average global market capitalization is less than $15
million over a 30 trading-day period, which will result in immediate initiation of suspension procedures; or (iii) the average closing price of a
listed security is less than $1.00 over a consecutive 30 trading-day period. We have received notification from the NYSE that we are not in
compliance with the NYSE�s continued listing requirements because both our 30 trading-day average global market capitalization and our last
reported stockholders� equity were below the respective $50 million requirements. When a listed company�s stock falls below the market
capitalization and stockholders� equity standard, a company is considered �below criteria,� and the company is permitted to submit a business plan
demonstrating its ability to return to compliance with these continued listing standards within 18 months of receipt of the NYSE notification. We
have submitted a plan of action to the NYSE which we believe will allow us to once again achieve compliance with the minimum listing
requirements of the NYSE no later than June 28, 2011. During the plan implementation process, our common stock will continue to be listed on
the NYSE, subject to our compliance with other NYSE continued listing requirements. On March 29, 2010, the NYSE agreed to accept our plan
of action.

If our shares of common stock are delisted from the NYSE and we are unable to list our shares of common stock on another U.S. national or
regional securities exchange or have our shares of common stock quoted on an established over-the-counter trading market in the United States
within 30 days, we will be required to make an offer to repurchase all of our outstanding convertible notes at a price of 100% of the principal
amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest. We may not have sufficient funds to pay the purchase price for any convertible notes that are
tendered to us if we are required to make this offer to repurchase.
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A delisting of our common stock could also negatively impact us by: (i) reducing the liquidity and market price of our common stock;
(ii) reducing the number of investors willing to hold or acquire our common stock, which could negatively impact our ability to raise equity
financing; and (iii) decreasing the amount of news and analyst coverage for us. In addition, we may experience other adverse effects, including,
without limitation, the loss of confidence in us by current and prospective suppliers, customers, employees and others with whom we have or
may seek to initiate business relationships, and our ability to attract and retain personnel by means of equity compensation could be impaired.

We have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock, and, therefore, investors will have to look to stock appreciation for return on their
investments.

We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all future earnings
to fund the development and growth of our business. Any payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will
depend on, among other things, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual
restrictions applying to the payment of dividends and other considerations that the board of directors deems relevant. Certain covenants of our
new senior credit facility restrict the payment of dividends without the prior written consent of the lender. Investors must rely on sales of their
common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, in order to realize a return on their investment.

Certain anti-takeover provisions of our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage or prevent others from acquiring our
company, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that:

� permit us to issue, without stockholder approval, up to 100,000 shares of preferred stock, in one or more series and, with respect to
each series, to fix the designation, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of the series;

� prohibit stockholders from calling special meetings;

� limit the ability of shareholders to act by written consent;

� prohibit cumulative voting; and

� require advance notice for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to the board of directors to be acted upon at meetings
of stockholders.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law limits business combinations with owners of more than 15% of our stock that
have not been approved by the board of directors. These provisions and other similar provisions make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire us without negotiation. Our board of directors could choose not to negotiate with an acquirer that it did not feel was in our strategic
interest. If the acquirer were discouraged from offering to acquire us or prevented from successfully completing a hostile acquisition by the
anti-takeover measures, you could lose the opportunity to sell your shares at a favorable price.

Future issuance of additional shares of our common stock could cause dilution of ownership interests and adversely affect our stock price.

We may in the future issue our previously authorized and unissued shares of common stock, resulting in the dilution of the ownership interests
of our current stockholders. We are currently authorized to issue 80,000,000 shares of common stock, of which 24,168,292 were issued as of
December 31, 2009. Additional shares are subject to future issuance through the exercise of options previously granted under our equity
compensation plans or through exercise of options that are still available for future grant. The potential

issuance of such additional shares of common stock, whether directly or pursuant to any conversion right of our
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convertible senior notes or other convertible securities, including our convertible preferred stock, we may issue in the future, may create
downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock. We may also issue additional shares of our common stock or other securities that
are convertible into or exercisable for common stock for raising capital or other business purposes. Future sales of substantial amounts of
common stock, or the perception that sales could occur, could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

On March 31, 2010, in connection with the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement related to our new senior credit facility, we issued
3,431,133 shares of common stock to pay a portion of the commitment fee due at closing. On March 31, 2010, in connection with the Exchange
Agreement involving our senior convertible notes, we expect to issue up to 1,568,867 shares of common stock to satisfy the common stock
component of the exchange.

We may issue additional shares of preferred stock or debt securities with greater rights than our common stock.

In August 2009, we sold convertible preferred stock with warrants to purchase additional shares of our common stock. Holders of the
convertible preferred stock may convert their preferred shares into shares of our common stock at any time, and we may automatically convert
the preferred shares into our common shares if certain conditions relating to the closing price of our common stock are met after February 12,
2010. All warrants are exercisable as of December 31, 2009. The convertible preferred stock and warrants have the right to acquire a total of
17,436,512 shares of our common stock.

Subject to the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, our certificate of incorporation authorizes our board of directors to issue one or more
additional series of preferred stock and set the terms of the preferred stock without seeking any further approval from holders of our common
stock. Currently, there are 100,000 preferred shares authorized, with 16,000 shares issued. Any preferred stock that is issued may rank senior to
our common stock in terms of dividends, priority and liquidation premiums, and may have greater voting rights than holders of our common
stock.

Also, holders of our convertible senior notes are preferred in right of payment to the holders of our preferred and common stock.

On March 31, 2010, in connection with the Exchange Agreement, we expect to exchange $40 million of convertible senior notes for the
aggregate consideration of $36 million in new convertible senior secured notes and $2 million in shares of our common stock.

Disclaimer of Obligation to Update

Except as required by applicable law or regulation, we assume no obligation (and specifically disclaim any such obligation) to update these Risk
Factors or any other forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or other factors
affecting such forward-looking statements.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties.
As of February 28, 2010, we operated 39 manufacturing and warehouse facilities in nine U.S. states. We own 13 of these facilities with the
remainder being leased with initial lease terms that expire at various years through 2032. In addition, our corporate office is a leased facility
located in Houston, Texas. The following table sets forth the locations of these facilities:

Segment Owned/Leased Location
Chemicals and Logistics Leased

Owned

Owned

Raceland, Louisiana

Norman, Oklahoma

Marlow, Oklahoma
Owned

Owned

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Carthage, Texas

Wheeler, Texas

Raceland, Louisiana

Pocola, Oklahoma

Wilburton, Oklahoma

The Woodlands, Texas

Drilling Products Owned

Owned

Owned

Owned

Owned

Owned

Chickasha, Oklahoma

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

Houston, Texas

Mason, Texas

Midland, Texas

Robstown, Texas
Owned

Owned

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Vernal, Utah

Evanston, Wyoming

Grand Junction, Colorado

Bossier City, Louisiana

Lafayette, Louisiana (2 locations)

Shreveport, Louisiana

Farmington, New Mexico

Tioga, North Dakota

Corpus Christi, Texas
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Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Leased

Granbury, Texas

Grand Prairie, Texas

Houston, Texas

Midland, Texas (3 locations)

Odessa, Texas

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Towanda, Pennsylvania

Casper, Wyoming

Artificial Lift Owned

Leased

Leased

Gillette, Wyoming

Farmington, New Mexico

Houston, Texas

General Corporate Leased Houston, Texas
We consider our facilities to be in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our business.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Class Action Litigation

On August 7, 2009, a class action suit was commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas on behalf of
purchasers of our common stock between May 8, 2007 and January 23, 2008, inclusive, seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. The complaint alleges that, throughout the time period indicated, we failed to disclose material adverse facts about our
true financial condition, business and prospects. Specifically, the complaint alleges that as a result of the failure to disclose the adverse facts, our
positive statements concerning guidance and prospects were lacking in a reasonable basis at all relevant times. The plaintiffs filed an amended
complaint on February 4, 2010 alleging misleading statements and material omissions in connection with our earnings guidance for 2007 and the
fourth quarter of 2007. The amended complaint does not quantify the alleged actual damages.

Since August 7, 2009, several other class action suits have been commenced by others concerning the foregoing matters.

We intend to mount a vigorous defense to these claims. Discovery has not yet commenced. At this time, we are unable to reasonably estimate
the outcome of this litigation.

Other Litigation

We are subject to routine litigation and other claims that arise in the normal course of business. We are not aware of any pending or threatened
lawsuits or proceedings which would have a material effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Item 4. Reserved.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant�s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (�NYSE�) under the symbol �FTK.� As of the close of business on March 16, 2010,
there were 24,215,283 shares of common stock outstanding held by approximately 10,000 holders of record. The last reported sale price of the
common stock on the NYSE on March 16, 2010 was $1.43.

As of December 27, 2007, our common stock began trading on the NYSE under the stock ticker symbol �FTK.� The following table sets forth, on
a per share basis for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sales prices of our common stock reported by the NYSE. These prices do not
include retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions.

Fiscal 2009     High        Low    
4th Quarter $ 2.41 $ 0.96
3rd Quarter $ 2.59 $ 1.38
2nd Quarter $ 3.30 $ 1.23
1st Quarter $ 5.00 $ 1.21

Fiscal 2008     High        Low    
4th Quarter $ 10.68 $ 1.88
3rd Quarter $ 20.95 $ 10.36
2nd Quarter $ 22.82 $ 15.30
1st Quarter $ 36.07 $ 14.52

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. While we regularly assess our dividend policy, we have no current plans
to declare a dividend and we intend to continue to use our earnings and other cash in the maintenance and expansion of our business. In addition,
our new senior credit facility contains provisions that limit our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock.
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Stock Performance Graph

The performance graph below illustrates a five year comparison of cumulative total returns based on an initial investment of $100 in our
common stock, as compared with the Russell 2000 Index and the Philadelphia Oil Services Index for the period 2005 through 2009. The
performance graph assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2004 in each of our common stock, the Russell 2000 Index and the Philadelphia Oil
Service Index, and that all dividends were reinvested.

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Flotek Industries, Inc. $ 100 $ 434 $ 652 $ 1,676 $ 117 $ 62
Russell 2000 Index $ 100 $ 105 $ 124 $ 122 $ 81 $ 103
Philadelphia Oil Service Index (OSX) $ 100 $ 150 $ 171 $ 251 $ 102 $ 166
The foregoing graph shall not be deemed to be filed as part of this Form 10-K and does not constitute soliciting material and should not be
deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any other filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange
Act, as amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate the graph by reference.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes information regarding our equity securities that are authorized for issuance under individual stock option
compensation agreements:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan category

Number of Securities to be
Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

of
Outstanding

Options, Warrants
and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

for Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding

Securities Reflected in the
Column (a))

(a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 1,605,398 $ 5.13 304,022
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holders � � �

Total 1,605,398 $ 5.13 304,022

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we purchased 22,491 shares of our common stock attributable to withholding to satisfy the payment of tax
obligations related to the vesting of restricted shares.

Period

Total
Number of
Shares

Purchased
Average Price
Paid per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchase as
Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or
Programs

Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet
be Purchased Under

the Plans or
Programs

October 1, 2009 to October 31, 2009 � $ � � �
November 1, 2009 to November 30, 2009 � � � �
December 1, 2009 to December 31, 2009 22,491 1.02 � �

Total 22,491 $ 1.02 � �
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The following table sets forth certain selected historical financial data and should be read in conjunction with �Item 7. Management�s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� and �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,� which are included
elsewhere herein. The selected operating and financial position data as of and for each of the five years ended December 31, 2009 have been
derived from our audited consolidated financial statements, some of which appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. During the
annual periods 2005 through 2008, we effected a number of business combinations and other transactions that materially affect the comparability
of the information set forth below. During 2009 and 2008, we recorded impairment charges for goodwill and other intangible assets of $18.5
million and $67.7 million, respectively. Additionally, on July 11, 2007, the Company effected a two-for-one stock split in the form of a 100%
stock dividend to the stockholders of record on July 3, 2007. All share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the
stock split.

As of and for the Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

(in thousands, except per share data)
Operating Data
Revenue $ 112,550 $ 226,063 $ 158,008 $ 100,642 $ 52,869
Income (loss) from operations (33,103) (30,751) 29,686 18,853 10,114
Net income (loss) (50,705) (34,161) 16,727 11,350 7,720
Earnings (loss) per share � Basic (2.70) (1.78) 0.91 0.66 0.53
Earnings (loss) per share � Diluted (2.70) (1.78) 0.88 0.61 0.47

Financial Position Data
Total assets 178,610 234,575 160,793 82,890 52,158
Convertible senior notes and long-term debt, less discount and current
portion 119,190 120,281 52,377 8,185 7,277
Stockholders� equity 31,634 65,721 77,461 53,509 35,205
The table above reflects the results of the following acquisitions of companies or their assets from their respective dates of acquisitions in the
following years:

2008 �

Teledrift, Inc.;

2007 �

Triumph Drilling Tools, Inc., CAVO Drilling Motors Ltd Co., and Sooner Energy Service, Inc.;

2006 �

Can-Ok Oil Field Services, Inc., Total Well Solutions, LLC, LifTech, LLC; and

2005 �

Phoenix E&P Technology, LLC, Spidle Sales and Services, Inc., Harmon�s Machine Works, Inc. and Precision-LOR, Ltd.
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Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following information contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, our actual results may differ from those expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. See �Forward-Looking Statements� at the beginning of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive Summary

We are a global technology-driven growth company serving the oil, gas, and mining industries by providing oilfield products, services and
equipment. We operate in select domestic and international markets including the Gulf Coast, the Southwest and the Rocky Mountains,
Northeastern and Mid-Continental United States, Canada, Mexico, Central America, South America, Europe, Africa and Asia. We market our
products domestically and internationally in over 20 countries. The customers for our products and services include the major integrated oil and
natural gas companies, independent oil and natural gas companies, pressure pumping service companies and state-owned national oil companies.
Our ability to compete in the oilfield services market is dependent on our ability to differentiate our products and services, provide superior
quality and service, and maintain a competitive cost structure. Our operations are driven primarily by natural gas and to a lesser extent oil well
drilling activity, the depth and drilling conditions of such wells, the number of well completions and the level of work-over activity in North
America. Drilling activity, in turn, is largely dependent on the price of natural gas and crude oil and the volatility and expectations of future
natural gas and oil prices. Our results of operations also depend heavily on the pricing we receive from our customers, which depends on activity
levels, availability of equipment and other resources, and competitive pressures. These market factors often lead to volatility in our revenue and
profitability. Historical market conditions are reflected in the table below:

2009 2008 2007
2009 vs.
2008

2008 vs.
2007

Average Active Drilling Rigs
United States 1,089 1,879 1,768 (42.0)% 6.3% 
Canada 221 381 344 (42.0)% 10.8% 

Total North America 1,310 2,260 2,112 (42.0)% 7.0% 

Vertical rigs (U.S.) 433 954 999 (54.6)% (4.5)% 
Horizontal rigs (U.S.) 455 553 393 (17.7)% 40.7% 
Directional rigs (U.S.) 201 372 376 (46.0)% (1.1)% 

Total drilling type (U.S.) 1,089 1,879 1,768

Oil vs. Natural Gas Drilling Rigs
Oil 382 543 426 (29.7)% 27.5% 
Natural Gas 928 1,717 1,686 (46.0)% 1.8% 

Total North America 1,310 2,260 2,112

Average Commodity Prices
West Texas Intermediate Crude Prices (per barrel) $ 61.65 $ 99.57 $ 72.32 (38.1)% 37.7% 
Natural Gas Prices ($/mmbtu) $ 3.71 $ 8.07 $ 6.38 (54.0)% 26.5% 

Source: Rig count: Baker Hughes, Inc. (www.bakerhughes.com); West Texas Intermediate Crude and Natural Gas Prices: Department of
Energy, Energy Information Administration (www.eia.doe.gov).

Demand for our services in the United States and Canada is driven primarily by natural gas and to a lesser extent oil drilling activity, which
tends to be extremely volatile, depending on the current and anticipated prices of crude oil and natural gas. During the last ten years, the lowest
average annual U.S. rig count was 830 in 2002 and
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the highest average annual U.S. rig count was 1,879 in 2008. With the decline and volatility of natural gas and oil prices in 2009, tightening and
uncertainty in the credit markets and the global economic slowdown, drilling rig activity in North America declined significantly. The average
active North American rig count declined 42.0% in 2009 as compared to 2008.

The weakening economic conditions that began to significantly weigh upon the energy markets in early October 2008 continued throughout
2009. The slowdown in the economy, particularly the industrial sector, coupled with the successful production results in the unconventional
shale and tight sands plays in the U.S. led to a natural gas oversupply situation, which negatively impacted natural gas price forecasts. This in
turn reduced the return potential of drilling projects causing less drilling activity as exploration and production (�E&P�) companies slashed their
2009 capital budgets. Oil prices showed some resilience toward the end of 2009; however our business is more dependent on the North
American gas markets than oil markets. Therefore, the recovery of oil prices toward the end of 2009 did little to support a significant
improvement in our business performance. In total, this translated into lower demand and weaker prices for oilfield services throughout North
America. Late in the fourth quarter of 2008, we began to take actions to scale our business to cope with these factors by implementing various
cost containment actions such as deferring employee salaries, reducing travel levels, suspending the 401(k) match, and eliminating any
non-essential discretionary expenditures. Early in 2009, we took actions to size the workforce to our expected near-term work load, resulting in
headcount reductions, including contract employees and full and part time employees. In conjunction with the market downturn, we decreased
inventory levels and took advantage of declining raw material prices to meet our customers demand for competitive pricing. Our Drilling
Products segment is tied closely to rig count, especially vertical rigs, and the significant reductions in rig count had an adverse effect on our
business. Despite these pressures we were able to maintain our market share through service quality, product innovation, and competitive
bundling of product offerings.

The sharp drop in natural gas and oil prices in the latter part of 2008 resulted in lower drilling activity, higher inventories, and further market
erosion in 2009 as a result of a worldwide economic slowdown which led to a rapid and substantial reduction in exploration and production
expenditures. In addition, margins were under significant pressure as customers sought lower prices for oilfield services and we, in turn sought
price reductions from our suppliers.

Forecasting the depth and length of the current cycle is challenging, as it is different from past cycles due to the overlay of the worldwide
financial crisis in combination with broad demand weakness. During the fourth quarter of 2009, U.S. drilling rig count averaged 1,108, as
compared to 970 in the third quarter, an increase of 14.2%. While we expect to see continued increases in U.S. drilling activity in 2010, the
timing and magnitude of the increase remains uncertain. The acceleration of drilling activity is influenced by a number of factors including
commodity prices, global demand for oil and natural gas, supply and depletion rates of oil and natural gas reserves, as well as broader variables
such as government monetary and fiscal policy.

The oil field services sector seems to have experienced its low point early in the third quarter of 2009. Our business stabilized and the cost
containment measures that we implemented in late 2008 and early 2009 began to take effect. Rig activity in North America began to improve
toward the latter part of 2009 as gas price forecasts improved as the supply overages began to shrink as a result of some improvement in the
economy and colder than normal temperature forecasts. We expect that these improved economic conditions will continue throughout 2010. As
E&P companies� outlooks improve with these higher expected gas prices, we expect this will lead to increased capital budgets for drilling and
completion activities. Oil prices have currently stabilized and this should continue to add rig count in the oil basins which should help improve
our Drilling Products revenue and lead to margin relief on pricing.

We expect the North American gas market activity will continue to see increases in the unconventional plays such as the Barnett, Haynesville,
Marcellus and other basins where our drilling tools are utilized. Our chemical additives enhance performance when added to fracturing fluids
utilized in this type drilling. Our Chemicals and Logistics segment is also tied to rig counts, especially horizontal drilling rigs. We also expect to
see additional international opportunities in 2010, particularly in our Chemical and MWD business units.
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Our business is comprised of three reportable segments: Chemicals and Logistics, Drilling Products and Artificial Lift. We focus on serving the
drilling-related needs of oil and gas companies primarily through our Chemicals and Logistics and Drilling Products segments, and the
production-related needs of oil and gas companies through our Artificial Lift and Chemicals and Logistics segments. We believe that our
product offerings and geographical presence throughout these three business segments provides us with diverse sources of cash flow. Each
segment has its own technical expertise and a common commitment to provide its customers with competitively priced quality equipment and
services.

� The Chemicals and Logistics segment develops, manufactures and markets specialty chemicals used in oil and gas well cementing,
stimulation, acidizing, drilling and production treatment. Additionally, the segment provides well cementing, bulk blending and
transload services and transload facility management services.

� The Drilling Products segment rents, inspects, manufactures and markets downhole drilling equipment for the energy, mining, water
well and industrial drilling sectors.

� The Artificial Lift segment assembles and markets artificial lift equipment which includes the Petrovalve line of rod pump
components, electric submersible pumps, and gas separators, valves and services to support coal bed methane production.

Over the past three years, we have grown both organically and through strategic acquisitions and other investments in complementary or
competing businesses in an effort to expand our product offering and geographic presence in key markets. We strive to mitigate cyclical risk in
the oilfield service sector by balancing our operations between drilling versus production; rental tools versus service; domestic versus
international; and natural gas versus crude oil.

The acquisitions we completed in the preceding three years include:

� Teledrift, Inc. (�Teledrift�), which designs and manufactures wireless survey and measurement while drilling tools in February 2008;

� Sooner Energy Services, Inc. (�Sooner�), which develops, produces and distributes specialty chemical products and services for
drilling and production of natural gas in August 2007;

� A 50% partnership interest in CAVO Drilling Motors, Ltd, Co., (�CAVO�), which specializes in the rental, service and sale of high
performance mud motors in January 2007, and the remaining 50% partnership interest in November 2007;

� Triumph Drilling Tools, Inc. (�Triumph�), a drilling tool sales and rental provider in Texas, New Mexico, Louisiana, Oklahoma and
Arkansas, in January 2007;

Non-Cash Impairment

We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level in the fourth quarter of every year and on an interim basis if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. Impairment exists
when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. Testing of goodwill requires an assessment of the current business
environment, future economic market indicators, expectations surrounding our future performance, the cost of working capital, projected
revenue and operating margins, assessment of market and industry risk rates, and recognition of changes in these variables which may indicate
the potential existence of goodwill impairment losses to be recognized, if any.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2009, we identified certain triggering events resulting from the continued downturn in the then current
business environment. This assessment impacted and lowered forecasted earning potential of our reporting units from that previously estimated
at December 31, 2008. Accordingly, we recorded a goodwill pre-tax impairment charge of $18.5 million relating to our Teledrift reporting unit
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As our current economic climate continues to be weak, we incorporated into our 2009 annual impairment assessment, and our 2010 full year
forecast, a measure of the recessionary environment of the second half of 2009. We anticipate a continued challenging environment for the first
half of 2010, followed by a slight recovery in the latter half of 2010. We anticipate benefits from a re-leveraging of sales in the second half of
2010 and early 2011. The continued unfavorable business environment, volatile economic downturn continuing during the latter half of 2009,
low rig count projections, and uncertainty as to the recovery of the global economy, have contributed to conservative projected cash flows and
higher risk-adjusted discount rates used in our current annual 2009 assessment as compared to those used in our interim 2009 and annual 2008
assessments.

We believe cost containment actions taken in late 2008 and throughout 2009 were successful. These included closing certain operating locations,
curtailing capital expenditures, reducing costs through reductions in personnel levels, discontinuing our 401(k) matching, and focusing on our
cost margin management. We emphasized collection of customer receivables and inventory management. This helped ensure preservation of the
economic value of our businesses. Through our analyses, we determined that the fair value of reporting units exceeded the goodwill carrying
value. Accordingly, we determined no further impairment charges were necessary as part of our 2009 annual goodwill impairment assessment.

We utilize a combination of a market approach and a present value discounted cash flow valuation technique to measure the fair value of the
goodwill of our reporting units. The fair value of a reporting unit refers to the price that would be received from selling the unit as a whole in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Quoted market prices in active markets are the best evidence of fair
value and are used as the basis for the measurement, if available. The market approach is dependent upon market data of comparable public
entities with operations and metrics similar to those of our operating segments. If quoted market prices or market indicators are not available, we
include a fair value estimate in our assessment which incorporates valuation techniques based on a weighted average cost of capital and multiple
of after-tax cash flows attributed to the reporting unit. The cash flows are discounted to a present value using risk adjusted discount rates over a
period of expected future returns. This income approach valuation technique is consistent with the objective of fair value measurements and is
consistent with the methodology applied in our previous assessments. The income approach is dependent on our weighted average cost of capital
and our forecasted operating results and future cash flows. Therefore, we consider available and relevant market multiple measures along with
the estimated and expected future cash flows of our reporting units to determine fair value.

Results of Operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Revenue $ 112,550 $ 226,063 $ 158,008
Cost of revenue 83,166 135,307 94,561

Gross margin 29,384 90,756 63,447
Selling, general and administrative costs 36,943 46,311 30,639
Depreciation and amortization 4,926 5,570 2,273
Research and development costs 2,118 1,931 849
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 18,500 67,695 �

Income (loss) from operations (33,103) (30,751) 29,686
Interest and other expense, net (15,586) (13,909) (2,545) 

Income (loss) before income taxes (48,689) (44,660) 27,141
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (2,016) 10,499 (10,414) 

Net income (loss) $ (50,705) $ (34,161) $ 16,727
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Results for 2009 compared to 2008�Consolidated

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $112.6 million, a decrease of $113.5 million, or 50.2%, compared to $226.1 million for the
same period in 2008. Revenue decreased in all three of our segments as decreases in petroleum and natural gas prices drove down rig counts and
related drilling activity, negatively affecting volume in all segments. In addition, pricing pressures drove down revenues as customers moved to
less expensive products where possible.

Consolidated gross margin decreased $61.4 million. Gross margin as a percentage of sales decreased to 26.1% for the year ended December 31,
2009 from 40.1% in 2008 due primarily to margin compression in the Drilling Products segment and segment direct expenses, that while
reduced $5.9 million, decreased at a lower rate than revenue. Gross margin is calculated as revenue less the corresponding cost of revenue,
which includes personnel, occupancy, depreciation and other expenses directly associated with the generation of revenue.

Selling, general and administrative costs are not directly attributable to products sold or services rendered. Selling, general and administrative
costs were $36.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of 20.2%, compared to $46.3 million in 2008. The decrease was
primarily due to a $9.3 million reduction in indirect personnel and personnel related costs and professional fees due to cost containment efforts.

Depreciation and amortization costs were $4.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of approximately 11.6% compared to
the same period in 2008. The decrease is primarily due to a reduction of amortizable intangible assets as a result of the asset impairment
recorded in 2008.

Research and development (R&D) costs were $2.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of 9.7%, compared to $1.9 million
during the same period in 2008. R&D costs in the Chemicals and Logistics segment were 65% and 89% of total R&D expense in 2009 and 2008,
respectively. We anticipate 2010 R&D spending levels to remain consistent with 2009 expenditures. R&D expenditures are charged to expense
as incurred.

In the second quarter of 2009, we recorded goodwill impairment of approximately $18.5 million related to the Teledrift reporting unit. No
additional impairment was recorded as part of management�s 2009 annual assessment of goodwill.

Management believes its cost structure is appropriate for its forecast level of activity and does not foresee significant adjustments; however,
changes in market demands or forecast may cause management to further reduce headcount or carry out additional cost containment efforts.

Interest expense was $15.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009 versus $13.8 million in 2008. The increase was primarily related to
accretion of the debt discount recorded effective January 1, 2009 associated with adoption of a new accounting principle.

An income tax provision of $2.0 million was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2009, reflecting an effective tax rate of (4.1%),
compared to a tax benefit of $10.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, reflecting an effective tax rate of 23.5%. The change in our
effective tax rate is primarily due to an $18.8 million valuation allowance recorded in 2009 against the deferred tax assets of one of our filing
jurisdictions. In addition, the 2008 impairment had a $19.3 million impact on our 2008 tax provision and there was no similar impact in 2009.

Results for 2008 compared to 2007�Consolidated

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $226.1 million, an increase of 43.1%, compared to $158.0 million for the same period in
2007. Revenue increased in all three of our segments as we experienced
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organic growth greater than 20% when compared to the previous year with the remainder of the growth coming from our acquisition of
Teledrift. The organic revenue growth is primarily a result of an increase in overall sales volume, particularly of our patented micro-emulsion
chemicals, tool rentals, service inspections and expansion of our mud motor fleet. Sales of our patented micro-emulsion chemicals grew 37.2%,
to $77.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $90.8 million, an increase of 43.0%, compared to $63.4 million for the same period in
2007. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue remained flat between both periods at approximately, 40.2% of revenues. We actively managed
our gross margin through targeted price increases and cost containment measures to offset increasing raw material prices throughout the year.
We continued to experience greater volumes within our higher margin Chemicals and Logistics segment and volumes related to the Teledrift
acquisition. Sales of our patented micro-emulsion chemicals, which sell at higher margins, made up 34.2% of consolidated revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2008, compared to 35.7% for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Selling, general and administrative costs were $46.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of 51.2%, compared to $30.6
million for the same period in 2007. Excluding the Teledrift acquisition, the increase was primarily due to a $10.6 million increase in indirect
personnel, office and occupancy costs in all divisions as we shifted into the more people-intensive rental and service business, expanded
geographically and expanded our sales and corporate support staff. The acquisition of Teledrift accounted for $2.1 million of the total increase,
and professional fees increased $2.1 million due to higher administration and management costs, which were incurred to strengthen back office
functions and internal controls.

Depreciation and amortization costs were $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of 145%, compared to $2.3 million
during the same period in 2007. The increase is due to higher depreciation associated with acquired assets and expanded capital expenditures.

Research and development costs were $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, an increase of 127%, compared to $0.8 million during
the same period in 2007. In 2008 we expanded our R&D investments in the Chemicals and Logistics segment by approximately 125%. R&D
expenditures are charged to expense as incurred.

We impaired the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets based on management�s evaluation of the Company�s sustained low stock
price and reduced market capitalization, macroeconomic factors impacting industry conditions, actual recent results and forecasted operating
performance, as well as other factors. The Company determined that the carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets exceeded the
estimated fair value of certain reporting units and intangible assets, and, as a result, recorded an impairment of $67.7 million at December 31,
2008. (Loss) from operations was ($30.8) million for the year in 2008 compared to income from operations of $29.7 million for the year in 2007.

Interest expense was $13.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 versus $3.5 million for the same period in 2007. The increase was a
result of the increase in our overall debt level associated with the issuance of the convertible senior notes in the amount of $115 million used to
finance the Teledrift acquisition, non-cash interest expense related to the application of ASC 470-20, �Debt with Conversion and Other Options,�
and pay down amounts previously outstanding under our senior credit facility. Additionally, we amortized debt fees related to our financing
agreements throughout 2008 that amounted to approximately $1.0 million.

An income tax benefit of $10.5 million was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2008. The effective tax rate for 2008 was 23.5% for the
year ended December 31, 2008 versus 38.4% for 2007. The decrease in our effective tax rate is primarily due to impairment charges and a shift
in income by jurisdiction. The impairment had a $19.3 million impact on our tax provision.
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Results by Segment

    Chemicals and Logistics (dollars in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Revenue $ 49,296 $ 109,356 $ 86,271

Gross margin $ 21,667 $ 49,119 $ 40,474

Gross margin % 44.0% 44.9% 46.9%

Income from operations $ 12,964 $ 37,433 $ 32,389

Income from operations % 26.3% 34.2% 37.5%

Results for 2009 compared to 2008�Chemicals and Logistics

Chemicals and Logistics revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $49.3 million, a decrease of $60.1 million, or 54.9%, compared to
$109.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in Chemicals and Logistics revenue was primarily due to a 46% reduction in
volume as a result of lower crude and natural gas prices driving a steep drop in rig activity and well fracturing activities. In addition, pricing
pressures drove customers to lower priced products resulting in a 24% decrease in average sales dollars per unit sold. Sales of our patented
micro-emulsion chemicals declined 59% to $31.6 million. Demand for micro-emulsion chemicals is driven by various market forces including
the fact that micro-emulsion chemicals have a higher per-unit cost.

Gross margin decreased $27.5 million due primarily to reductions in revenue and a slight reduction in gross margin as a percentage of revenue
from 44.9% to 44.0%. Product margins as a percentage of product revenue remained flat. Field direct expenses as a percentage of segment
revenue increased to 8.1% from 5.5% as revenue decreased at a higher rate than reductions made due to cost containment efforts. Chemical
product costs can fluctuate significantly with the price of petroleum and we generally do not lead the market in pricing, therefore, product
margins are subject to market and cost fluctuations. We cannot be assured of passing on timely price increases; however, we believe our margins
will fluctuate consistent with other market participants.

Income from operations was $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, a decrease of approximately 65.4% compared to the same
period in 2008. Income from operations as a percentage of revenue decreased to 26.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009. Field indirect
costs decreased by $3.2 million or 26.8% due primarily to cost containment efforts; however, reductions did not keep pace with revenue
decreases and field indirect costs increased as a percentage of revenue to 17.7% from 10.9%.

Results for 2008 compared to 2007�Chemicals and Logistics

Chemicals and Logistics revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $109.4 million, an increase of 26.8%, compared to $86.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase in revenue is primarily a result of a $21.0 million increase in sales of our patented
micro-emulsion chemicals, an increase of $4.4 million due to the Sooner Energy Services, Inc. acquisition, and a $2.2 million increase in
services revenue. The increases were offset by a $4.2 million decrease in sales of the remainder of our chemical business as those products
became commoditized due to increased competition. We also instituted a price increase in the first quarter of 2008 that we maintained for most
of the year. However, in the second half of the year our margins declined as a result of rising raw material costs. Sales of micro-emulsion
chemicals grew 37.2%, to $77.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, from $56.4 million for the same period in 2007 as a result of
increased fracturing activities and wider acceptance of our micro-emulsion products by independent pressure pumping companies as well as the
majors.
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Income from operations was $37.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, approximately 16% higher than the same period in 2007.
Income from operations as a percentage of revenue decreased to 34.2% for the year ended December 31, 2008. The rising cost of raw materials
(petroleum-based feedstock) reduced our operating profit. We partially offset this cost increase through targeted price increases for certain
products. We also made investments related to a new research and development facility and for our international initiative.

As a result of the declining market conditions experienced in the fourth quarter of 2008, we began to institute measures to size the organization
to the current marketplace. We relocated one production chemical manufacturing facility. As a technology driven company, we remained active
in our research and development efforts by maintaining these costs at current levels as a percentage of revenues. We anticipated increased price
pressures from our customers within the marketplace and focused our attention on margin protection through management of both raw materials
and fixed costs, in addition to technology innovations.

    Drilling Products (dollars in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Revenue $ 50,774 $ 98,262 $ 56,836

Gross margin $ 4,781 $ 36,897 $ 19,132

Gross margin % 9.4% 37.5% 33.7%

Income (loss) from operations $ (32,084) $ (43,840) $ 5,632

Income (loss) from operations % (63.2%) (44.6%) 9.9%

Results for 2009 compared to 2008�Drilling Products

Drilling Products revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 was $50.8 million, a decrease of $47.5 million, or 48.3%, compared to $98.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease in revenue as compared to 2008 was primarily due to decreased demand for our
products and services commensurate with the reduction in rig count in North America. Reductions in volume were experienced in all product
lines and nearly all products. In addition, an oversupply of tools available for rent or sale by the Company and in the market due to the economic
slowdown created pricing pressures reducing revenue on a per rental basis.

Gross margin decreased $32.1 million due to reductions in revenue and margins. Product and rental gross margins as a percentage of related
revenue decreased to 55.6% in 2009 from 66.0% in 2008, accounting for a $4.6 million relative decrease in gross margin, primarily due to
market pricing pressures. Field direct costs decreased by $3.6 million or 16% due primarily to cost containment efforts; however, due to lower
revenues, those costs increased as a percentage of segment revenue to 37% from 23%. In addition, inventory adjustments, which related
primarily to increased inventory reserves, increased $1.9 million as compared to 2008.

Loss from operations was $32.1 million in 2009, a decrease of $11.8 million or 26.8% as compared to 2008. The smaller loss is primarily due to
a decrease in impairment to $18.5 million in 2009 from $59.1 million in 2008, offset by the decrease in gross margin. For further discussion of
goodwill impairment, see Note 7 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, included in �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data.� Field indirect costs decreased by $3.2 million or 15.0% due primarily to cost containment efforts; however, due to the lower revenues,
those costs increased as a percentage of segment revenue to 36.2% from 22.0%.

We anticipate modest rig count growth in 2010 continuing the trend of late 2009, and while market conditions should improve slightly as a
result, we expect that pricing will remain competitive throughout 2010. We intend to continue the initiative of adding drilling jars and shock
subs to our fleet and reducing our sub-rental usage. We
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also intend to continue to pursue international market opportunities with the Teledrift line of MWD products during 2010. While our efforts to
introduce the Telepulse MWD for horizontal drilling were slowed by market conditions in 2009, we anticipate moving forward in 2010 with this
initiative.

Capital expenditures in the Drilling Products segment were $6.2 million in 2009 compared to $19.8 million in 2008. After building tool and
rental inventory in 2008, capital expenditures were significantly curtailed in 2009 in response to decreased demand. Management has forecast
Drilling Products capital expenditures of $3.5 million in 2010; however, this amount may fluctuate dependent upon market demand and our
results of operations.

Results for 2008 compared to 2007�Drilling Products

Drilling Products revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 was $98.3 million, an increase of 72.9%, compared to $56.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The acquisition of Teledrift, Inc. contributed 63% of the growth in Drilling Products revenues in 2008. Organic
growth related to tool rentals, services and inspection and the expansion of our mud motor fleet contributed the balance of the segments revenue
increase. Tool rental and mud motor revenues increased $14.7 million due to further integration of the Flotek product family and higher market
penetration. Our operational integration efforts related to Teledrift have provided the domestic and international oil and gas industry with
inexpensive, measurement while drilling (MWD) tools designed and optimized for vertical and horizontal well drilling, increasing Teledrift�s
post acquisition contribution to revenues beyond our initial estimates.

Loss from operations was $43.8 million in 2008. Excluding the segment impairment of $59.1 million relating to goodwill and other intangible
assets of $55.6 million and $3.5 million, respectively, income from operations before impairment was $15.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008, approximately 170% higher than in 2007. Income from operations before impairment in 2008 as a percentage of revenues
was 15.6% compared to income from operations as a percentage of revenues in 2007 of 9.9% The increase in income from operations before
impairment was primarily driven by the acquisition of Teledrift and our expansion into higher margin tools, motors and services. We made
strategic investments in new North American sales facilities and opened two new repair facilities.

The Drilling Products segment requires higher levels of capital expenditures than our other segments. Capital expenditures in 2008 were
approximately $19.8 million for the drilling segment compared to $8.5 million in 2007.

    Artificial Lift (dollars in thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Revenue $ 12,480 $ 18,445 $ 14,901

Gross margin $ 2,936 $ 4,740 $ 3,841

Gross margin % 23.5% 25.7% 25.8%

Income (loss) from operations $ 1,161 $ (6,709) $ 1,381

Income (loss) from operations % 9.3% (36.4%) 9.3%

Results for 2009 compared to 2008�Artificial Lift

Artificial Lift revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009 were $12.5 million, a decrease of $6.0 million, or 32.3%, compared to
$18.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The vast majority of Artificial Lift revenues are derived from coalbed methane (CBM)
drilling. CBM drilling activity is highly correlated to the price of natural gas and as the price of natural gas decreased throughout most of 2009,
drill activity slowed considerably, resulting in a reduction in the volume of units sold.

Gross margin decreased $1.8 million primarily due to reductions in revenue. Product margins increased slightly to 69% from 68% accounting for
a $0.1 million relative increase in gross margin. Field direct costs decreased by $0.3 million or 24% due primarily to cost containment efforts.
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Income (loss) from operations increased $7.9 million to $1.2 million in 2009 from a loss from operations of $6.7 million in 2008. The majority
of the improvement in income (loss) from operations is due to a decrease in goodwill impairment to zero in 2009 from $8.6 million in 2008. In
addition, field indirect costs decreased $1.1 million due primarily to cost containment efforts.

Results for 2008 compared to 2007�Artificial Lift

Artificial Lift revenues for the year ended December 31, 2008 were $18.4 million, an increase of 23.8%, compared to $14.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2007. The increase in revenue is primarily a result of very active coal bed methane drilling in Wyoming, an increase in rod
pump sales and a price increase implemented in August in response to an increase in our raw material costs. We opened two new repair facilities
in North America to take advantage of market opportunities. We designed these facilities to be scalable to local market conditions.

Loss from operations was $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily as a result of impairment charges of $8.6 million
relating to goodwill ($5.9 million) and other intangible assets ($2.7 million). Income from operations before impairment in 2008 as a percentage
of revenues was 10.0% compared to income from operations as a percentage of revenues in 2007 of 9.3%. Income from operations before
impairment in 2008 was $1.8 million or approximately 33.5% higher than income from operations of $1.4 million in 2007. We made strategic
investments in this segment by adding two new pump repair facilities and increased our field sales presence.

Consistent with our strategy within our other two segments, we reduced our operating cost structure to align with market conditions while
maintaining flexibility to capitalize on a return to a more normalized market. In the first quarter of 2009, we closed one of our facilities in
response to the dramatic decrease in our customers drilling activity in coal bed methane and related pricing pressures. Our strategy is to focus on
competitive pricing and exceptional service by offering our proprietary downhole gas separator technology and Petrovalve rod pump systems,
especially in the international market.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Overview

Our ongoing capital requirements arise primarily from the need to service our debt, to acquire and maintain equipment, to fund our working
capital requirements and to complete acquisitions. We have funded our capital requirements with operating cash flows, debt borrowings, and by
issuing shares of preferred and common stock. At December 31, 2009, we have not identified any acquisition candidates, nor are we actively
looking for acquisition candidates.

The challenging economic conditions facing the oil and gas industry, which began just before the end of 2008, have adversely affected our
financial performance and liquidity in 2009. As discussed earlier, as oil and natural gas prices, the number of well completions and rig count
declined during 2009, we experienced lower demand for our products and services across all of our segments.

At December 31, 2009, we were not in compliance with certain financial and other covenants in the existing credit agreement for our bank
senior credit facility. The lenders had also limited our access under the revolving line of credit to the amount of borrowings outstanding at
December 31, 2009. We were in discussions with the current senior credit facility lenders to obtain waivers of the covenant violations, and at the
same time were discussing replacement financing and financing arrangements with other lenders. On March 31, 2010, we executed an Amended
and Restated Credit Agreement with Whitebox Advisors, LLC for a $40 million term loan. This new senior credit facility replaced our existing
senior credit facility. The new senior credit facility will increase our borrowing costs, but will reduce our scheduled principal amortization
requirements during 2010. We
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received net proceeds of $6.1 million from the new senior credit facility. The significant terms of our new senior credit facility are discussed
under �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data� in Note 19 to our consolidated financial statements.

Also, at December 31, 2009, we were not in compliance with the continued listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). The
noncompliance arose because both our global market capitalization and our stockholders� equity fell below $50 million. In March 2010, we
submitted a plan of action to the NYSE which outlined our plan to achieve compliance with the continued listing standards during the 18-month
cure period, which ends in June 2011. During implementation and execution of our plan, our common stock will continue to be listed on the
NYSE, subject to compliance with other NYSE continued listing requirements. On March 29, 2010, the NYSE agreed to accept our plan of
action.

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $6.5 million at December 31, 2009. In March 2010, we received net proceeds of $6.1
million from our new senior credit facility. Our capital budget for 2010 reduces capital expenditures to $3.4 million until we achieve improved
operating cash flows.

We believe that we have sufficient cash reserves to meet our anticipated operating and capital expenditure requirements during 2010. However,
we continue to seek additional debt and equity funding.

Plan of Operations for 2010

Since the 2008 cyclical peak, natural gas prices and drilling activity have declined precipitously, directly impacting demand for our products and
services. We experienced operating losses during each of the four quarters in 2009. Forecasting the depth and length of the decline in the current
cycle is challenging due to the overlay of the worldwide financial crisis in combination with broad demand weakness in each of our business
segments. During the fourth quarter of 2009, the average U.S. drilling rig count increased 14.2%, compared to the average in the third quarter.
During this quarter, we experienced modest revenue growth of 3.1% and an increase in our gross margin percentage of 1.0%, compared to the
third quarter.

Our plan of operations for 2010 anticipates a continuing, gradual improvement in economic conditions during the year. We are executing a
business plan for 2010 that includes the following:

� Working to replace our existing senior credit facility. We were successful in closing on a new senior credit facility on March 31,
2010. This provided us with net proceeds of $6.1 million. The new senior credit facility will increase our borrowing costs, but will
reduce our scheduled principal amortization requirements during 2010.

� Seeking additional equity funding. In August 2009, we raised $16 million through an offering of convertible preferred stock and
stock warrants. The warrants, if all were exercised, would provide us with an additional $14 million of capital (after re-pricing of the
outstanding stock warrants for their anti-dilution price protection upon execution of the new senior credit facility). We continue to
discuss funding opportunities with our advisors. The likelihood of obtaining additional equity funding should increase if the
economy continues to improve and if the oil and gas industry experiences growth.

� Managing capital expenditures until cash flows improve. Our capital expenditure budget for 2010 is approximately $3.4 million, a
decrease from the $7.0 million we spent in 2009. We have identified an additional $4.1 million of capital items, primarily for
downhole tools, that may be acquired as our cash flows improve.

� Integrating oversight and actions of the new senior management team we have assembled. We have created an �Office of the
President,� which is striving to increase collaboration throughout our organization.

� Investigating and determining whether expansion in foreign markets can provide strategic benefits for our existing business
segments. We will seek out potential business partners that offer a broader geographic reach, or new and unique ways to use our
existing products and services.
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� Identifying and selling non-core assets and underperforming product lines. We are undertaking a comprehensive review within each
of our business segments to identify assets that may no longer meet our strategic objectives. In addition to providing liquidity, the
sale of non-strategic assets should allow us to concentrate our efforts and resources on improving and expanding the reach of our
products.

� Continuing to monitor actions we took during 2009, which included closing certain operating locations and reducing personnel
levels. Further adjustments may be required in 2010. An expanded emphasis on certain product lines could improve our margins. We
continue to emphasize the review of both outsourcing and insourcing opportunities to improve our operations. We are also
identifying areas where reductions can be made in selling, general and administrative expenses. If economic conditions continue to
improve, we may need to begin hiring additional personnel.

� Managing our assets and ongoing operations. Efforts begun in 2009 to actively manage our accounts receivable and inventories will
be continued. We have been successful in increasing operating cash flow through receivables management. We are poised to realize
increased cash flows from inventory management as demand for our products increases. Overall management of working capital is
being stressed. In addition, we have made a decision to conserve capital spending, and have identified certain capital expenditures
that will be made only after we see improvement in our business and liquidity.

� Enhancing the technology used in each of our business segments. We believe that technology innovations are important to our future.
A longer-term goal is expanding our research and development activities. It is likely, however, that cash flow constraints will limit
expansion of research and development activities during 2010.

Cash Flows

Cash flow metrics from our consolidated statements of cash flows are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,186 $ 24,874 $ 22,613
Net cash used in investing activities (3,699) (117,178) (70,532) 
Net cash provided by financing activities 7,812 91,215 48,685
Effect of exchange rate changes (7) � 6

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 6,292 $ (1,089) $ 772

Operating Activities

During 2009, 2008 and 2007, we generated cash from operating activities totaling $2.2 million, $24.9 million and $22.6 million, respectively.
The net loss for 2009 was $50.7 million, compared to a net loss of $34.2 million for 2008 and net income of $16.7 million for 2007.

Noncash additions to net income in 2009 were $49.8 million, consisting primarily of an impairment charge for our intangible assets ($18.5
million), depreciation and amortization ($14.2 million), amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of debt discount ($6.3 million),
stock compensation expense ($1.7 million), and deferred income tax provision ($10.5 million), offset by a gain on the sale of assets ($1.4
million). Noncash additions to net income in 2008 were $62.4 million, consisting primarily of an impairment charge for our goodwill ($67.7
million), depreciation and amortization ($12.8 million), amortization of deferred financing costs and accretion of debt discount ($4.6 million),
and stock compensation expense ($2.5 million), offset by a gain on the sale of assets ($2.9 million) and a deferred income tax benefit ($20.9
million).

We experienced a noncash impairment charge of $67.7 million in 2008 and an increase in noncash depreciation and amortization of $6.3 million,
offset by an increase in our deferred income tax benefit of $19.8 million.
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During 2009, changes in working capital provided $3.1 million in cash. As our business declined during 2009, we collected accounts receivable
and paid accounts payable and accrued liabilities that existed at December 31, 2008. We decreased our inventories by $10.8 million or 28.4%.
During 2008, changes in working capital used $3.4 million in cash, principally to finance our increase in sales. During 2007, changes in working
capital provided $2.0 million in cash.

Investing Activities

During 2009, 2008 and 2007, our capital expenditures were $6.6 million, $23.7 million and $15.7 million, respectively. Capital expenditures
decreased during 2009 as our business declined, and as we closely monitored our available cash. Capital expenditures in 2008 were made to
expand our rental tool fleet (primarily mud motors, MWD tools, shock subs and drilling jars), construct a new, larger facility for our Teledrift
operations (which we occupied in February 2009) and purchase additional plant and machinery, primarily machines to repair motors and for use
in our research and development activities.

During 2008, we used $98.0 million for our acquisition of Teledrift, and during 2007, we used $53.0 million for our acquisitions of Triumph
Drilling, CAVO Drilling Motors and Sooner Energy Services. There were no acquisitions in 2009, and currently, we are not looking for
acquisition candidates.

Financing Activities

During 2009, 2008 and 2007, our financing activities provided net cash of $7.8 million, $91.2 million and $48.7 million, respectively.

We made payments during 2009, 2008 and 2007 on our bank term loan facility totaling $12.8 million, $4.1 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, and net repayments (advances) under our bank revolving line of credit facility totaling ($7.6 million), $27.6 million and $12.5
million, respectively.

In August 2009, we sold convertible preferred stock and stock warrants which generated proceeds of $14.8 million, net of transaction costs of
$1.2 million. We used the net proceeds to reduce borrowings under our senior bank credit facility, thereby providing additional availability of
credit, and for general corporate purposes.

The 16,000 shares of preferred stock have a total liquidation preference of $16 million. Dividends on the convertible preferred stock accrue at
the rate of 15% of the liquidation preference per year and accumulate if not paid quarterly. Each share of convertible preferred stock has a
liquidation preference of $1,000 and may, at the holder�s option, be converted into shares of our common stock (at a conversion price of
approximately $2.30 per common share). We can automatically convert the preferred stock into shares of our common stock under certain
conditions, and may redeem the preferred shares for cash beginning in August 2012.

There are approximately 8.0 million warrants to purchase our common shares at $2.45 per share at December 31, 2009. They are currently
exercisable and expire in August 2014. There are also approximately 2.5 million warrants to purchase our common shares at $2.31 per share at
December 31, 2009. These warrants are currently exercisable and expire in November 2014. On March 31, 2010, as a result of anti-dilution
provisions in the warrants, the exercise price of all 10.5 million warrants was decreased to $1.27 per share as a result of common stock issued in
connection with our new senior secured credit facility.

In February 2008, we issued $115 million of 5.25% convertible senior notes due 2028, at par, which generated proceeds of $111.8 million, net of
transaction costs of $3.2 million. We used the net proceeds from issuance of the notes to finance the acquisition of Teledrift and for general
corporate purposes.
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The notes, which mature in February 2028, bear interest at 5.25% per annum. We may redeem all or a portion of the notes for cash beginning in
February 2013. Holders of the notes may require us to purchase all or a portion of their notes for cash in February 2013, February 2018 and
February 2023. Any redemption or repurchase of the notes will be for cash at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes.

The notes are convertible, at the holder�s option, into shares of our common stock (at a conversion price of approximately $22.75 per common
share). Upon conversion, we may deliver, at our option, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and shares of common stock.

In March 2008, we entered into a new credit agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for a syndicate of lenders. This
credit agreement provides for a term loan facility and a revolving credit facility. Initial borrowing under this senior credit facility refinanced
substantially all of our borrowing under a similar credit agreement with Wells Fargo. Outstanding balances under these loans were to mature and
come due on March 31, 2011.

The term loan facility was limited to the initial advance, and amounts repaid may not be re-borrowed. At December 31, 2009, the outstanding
term loan balance was $21.2 million. The amount of credit available under the revolving credit facility was equal to the lesser of a maximum set
by the lender or the amount determined through a borrowing base calculation using eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory. At
December 31, 2009, the outstanding balance under the revolving credit facility was $10.0 million.

We were obligated to make quarterly principal payments of $2 million on the term loan facility. In addition, mandatory prepayments were
required under certain circumstances.

Interest accrued on amounts outstanding under the senior credit facility at variable rates based on, at our election, the prime rate or LIBOR, plus
an applicable margin. At December 31, 2009, we had elected to apply the prime rate, plus the applicable margin, to certain portions of the
outstanding balance and to apply LIBOR, plus the applicable margin, to other portions of the outstanding balance. The weighted average interest
rate on borrowings outstanding under the senior credit facility at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was 8.46% and 5.14%, respectively.

Borrowings under the senior credit facility were subject to certain covenants and a material adverse change subjective acceleration clause. The
credit agreement contains certain financial and other covenants, including a minimum net worth covenant, a maximum leverage ratio covenant, a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, a maximum senior leverage ratio covenant, a covenant restricting capital expenditures, a
covenant limiting the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and a covenant restricting acquisitions.

During 2009, we amended the credit agreement on four occasions, to provide, among other things, a decrease in the aggregate revolving credit
commitment, an increase in the interest rate margin applicable to borrowings, and changes in financial covenants related to minimum net worth,
the leverage ratio, the fixed charge coverage ratio, and maximum annual capital expenditures. At December 31, 2009, certain specific financial
requirements and ratios were as follows:

Aggregate revolving credit limit $15 million, but limited to $14.5 million (subject to change)

Interest rate margin 6.5% (above the prime rate or LIBOR)

Minimum net worth, as defined $42.8 million

Leverage ratio, beginning June 30, 2010 4.75 to 1.0, declining quarterly to 3.75 to 1.0 at December 31, 2010

Senior leverage ratio Maximum of 2.0 to 1.0

Maximum annual capital expenditures $11 million for 2010
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Our contractually required and actual covenant ratios as of December 31, 2009 were as follows:

Covenant Required $/Ratio Actual $/Ratio
Minimum net worth Minimum $42.8 million $14.8 million
Leverage ratio (1) Waived 72.57 to 1.00
Fixed charge coverage Minimum 0.75 to 1.00 0.09 to 1.00
Senior leverage Maximum 2.00 to 1.00 1 to 1.00
(1) Maximum leverage ratio has been waived until June 30, 2010.
At December 31, 2009, we were not in compliance with the minimum net worth, fixed charge coverage ratio, and senior leverage ratio covenants
of the credit agreement.

On March 31, 2010, we entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with new lenders. The Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement provided us with new cash proceeds of $6.1 million. Scheduled cash principal payments have been reduced for 2010 and 2011. We
have the option to pay a portion of the interest by addition it to the principal balance, and if certain conditions are met, to make certain payments
by issuing our common stock. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement does not contain a revolving line of credit facility or quarterly and
annual covenants. Also on March 31, 2010, we entered into our Exchange Agreement in which we expect to exchange $40 million of our
convertible senior notes for the aggregate consideration of $36 million in new convertible senior secured notes and $2 million in shares of our
common stock.

We are working to lower our working capital needs and have focused on cash collections of our accounts receivable balances and reduction of
inventory. In the event that capital required is greater than the amount we have available at the time, we will reduce the expected level of capital
expenditures, sell assets and/or seek additional capital. Cash generated by future asset sales may depend on the overall economic conditions of
the industries served by these assets, the condition and location of the assets, and the number of interested buyers. Our ability to raise funds in
the capital markets through the issuance of additional indebtedness is limited by covenants in our credit facilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we have not participated in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities (�SPEs�), which would have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of December 31, 2009, we are not
involved in any unconsolidated SPEs.

We have not made guarantees to any of our customers or vendors. We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements or commitments, other
than operating leases which are discussed below, that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to
investors.

Contractual Obligations

Our cash flows from operations are dependent on a number of factors, including fluctuations in our operating results, accounts receivable
collections, inventory management, and the timing of payments for goods and services. As a result, the impact of contractual obligations on our
liquidity and capital resources in future periods should be analyzed in conjunction with such factors.
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Our material contractual obligations are composed of repayment of amounts borrowed through our convertible senior notes and long-term debt,
obligations under capital and operating lease obligations and construction commitments in our chemicals and logistics segment. Contractual
obligations at December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than
1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years

More than
5 years

Convertible senior notes $ 115,000 $ � $ � $ 115,000 $ �
Long-term debt 31,880 8,717 23,163 � �
Capital lease obligations 658 232 359 67 �
Operating lease obligations 6,450 1,763 2,711 546 1,430

Total $ 153,988 $ 10,712 $ 26,233 $ 115,613 $ 1,430

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Preparation of these statements requires management to make judgments and estimates. Some accounting policies have a significant
impact on amounts reported in these financial statements. A summary of significant accounting policies can be found in Note 2 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. We have also identified certain accounting policies that we consider critical to understanding our business
and our results of operations and we have provided below additional information on those policies. The accounting policies we believe to be the
most critical to understanding our business and preparing our consolidated financial statements and that require management�s most difficult,
subjective or complex judgments and estimates are described below.

Inventory Reserves

Inventories consist of raw materials, finished goods and work-in-process. Finished goods inventories include raw materials, direct labor and
production overhead. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market using the weighted average cost method. Our inventory reserve
represents the excess of the carrying value over the amount we expect to realize from the ultimate sale or other disposal of the inventory.

We regularly review inventory quantities on hand and record provisions for excess or obsolete inventory based primarily on our estimated
forecast of product demand, historical usage of inventory on hand, market conditions, production or procurement requirements and technological
developments. Significant or unanticipated changes in market conditions or our forecast could impact the amount and timing of provisions for
excess or obsolete inventory.

We have not made any material changes in the accounting methodology we use to establish our slow-moving and obsolete reserves during the
past three fiscal years. Specific assumptions discussed above are updated at the date of each test to consider current industry and
Company-specific risk factors. The current business environment is subject to evolving market conditions and requires significant management
judgment to interpret the potential impact to the Company�s assumptions. To the extent that changes in the current business environment result in
adjusted management projections, impairment losses may occur in future periods. The potential change in the inventory reserve resulting from a
hypothetical 10% adverse change in the annual demand forecast for products would have increased the reserve by $590,000 at December 31,
2009.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue for product sales and services are recognized when all of the following criteria have been met: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, (ii) products are shipped or services rendered to the customer and all significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed
to the customer, (iii) the price to the customer is
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fixed and determinable, and (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured. Our products and services are sold with fixed or determinable prices and do
not include right of return or other similar provisions or other significant post delivery obligations. Accounts receivable are recorded at that time
net of any discounts. Deposits and other funds received in advance of delivery are deferred until the transfer of ownership is complete.

Our logistics division recognizes revenue of its design and construction oversight contracts under the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs of completion. This percentage is applied to the total
estimated revenue at completion to calculate revenue earned to date. Contract costs include all direct labor and material costs and those indirect
costs related to manufacturing and construction operations. General and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Changes in job
performance and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract bonus or penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may
result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which such revisions appear probable. All known or anticipated losses
on contracts are recognized in full when such amounts become apparent. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, claims and unapproved change orders
were insignificant in value.

Within the Drilling Products segment, payments from customers for the cost of oilfield rental equipment that is damaged or lost-in-hole are
reflected as revenue with the carrying value of the related equipment charged to cost of sales. This amount totaled $2.9, $4.4 and $2.1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.

Goodwill

We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill in the fourth quarter of each year and on an interim basis if events occur or circumstances change
that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. Such circumstances could include, but are
not limited to a significant adverse change in the business climate, unanticipated competition, or a change in the assessment of future operations
of a reporting unit.

Due to continuing macro-economic conditions affecting the oil and gas industry and the financial performance of all of our reporting units,
management tested for evidence of goodwill impairment as of the second and the third quarters of 2009. Based on these evaluations, we
recorded a goodwill impairment charge of approximately $18.5 million related the Teledrift reporting unit in the second quarter of 2009. No
additional impairment was recorded as a result of management�s 2009 annual test of goodwill. In the fourth quarter of 2008, as a result of our
annual impairment test, we recognized $61.5 million of goodwill impairment.

We determine fair value using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flows and market multiple analyses, and through
use of an independent fixed asset valuation firm, as appropriate. These types of analyses contain uncertainties because they require management
to make assumptions and to apply judgment to estimate industry economic factors and the profitability of future business strategies. It is our
policy to conduct impairment testing based on our current business strategy in light of present industry and economic conditions, as well as our
future expectations. Key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow valuation model include, among others, discount rates, growth rates, cash
flow projections and terminal value rates. Discount rates and cash flow projections are the most sensitive and susceptible to change as they
require significant management judgment. Discount rates are determined by using a weighted average cost of capital (�WACC�). The WACC
considers market and industry data as well as Company-specific risk factors for each reporting unit in determining the appropriate discount rate
to be used. The discount rate utilized for each reporting unit is indicative of the return an investor would expect to receive for investing in such a
business. Operational management, considering industry and Company-specific historical and projected data, develops cash flow projections for
each reporting unit. Additionally, as part of the market multiple approach, we utilize market data from publicly traded entities whose businesses
operate in industries consistent with our reporting units, adjusted for certain factors that increase comparability.
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Specific assumptions discussed above are updated at the date of each test to consider current industry and Company-specific risk factors from
the perspective of a market participant. The current business environment is subject to evolving market conditions and requires significant
management judgment to interpret the potential impact to the Company�s assumptions. To the extent that changes in the current business
environment result in adjusted management projections, impairment losses may occur in future periods.

Our 2009 annual impairment assessment of the estimated fair value of our Chemical and Logistics reporting unit indicated that it exceeded its
total asset book value by more than $100 million. The estimated fair value of our Teledrift reporting unit was less than the total asset book value
by approximately $10 million, triggering a Step 2 evaluation; however, based on the estimated fair value of the reporting unit�s assets, we
determined that the implied goodwill exceeded its carrying value by approximately $4 million. To evaluate the sensitivity of the fair value
calculations of our reporting units, we applied a hypothetical 10% unfavorable change in our weighted average cost of capital, which would have
reduced the estimated fair value of the Chemical and Logistics and Teledrift reporting units by approximately $6 million and $2 million,
respectively. We also evaluated the sensitivity of the fair value calculations by applying a hypothetical 10% reduction in our estimated future
cash flows, which would have reduced the estimated fair value of the Chemical and Logistics and Teledrift reporting units by approximately $14
million and $4 million, respectively. None of these sensitivity analyses would have resulted in impairment. The Company cannot predict the
occurrence of certain events or circumstances that could adversely affect the fair value of goodwill. Such events may include, but are not limited
to deterioration of the economic environment, particularly as pertaining to the oil and gas industry, increases in our weighted average cost of
capital, material negative change in relationships with significant customers, reductions in valuations of other public companies in our industry,
or strategic decisions made in response to economic and competitive conditions. If actual results are not consistent with our current estimates
and assumptions, impairment of goodwill could be required.

Long-Lived Assets Other than Goodwill

Long-lived assets other than goodwill consist of property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets. Property and equipment are stated
at cost. We make judgments and estimates in conjunction with the carrying value of these assets, including amounts to be capitalized,
depreciation and amortization methods, useful lives and the valuation of acquired definite-lived intangibles

Long-lived assets other than goodwill are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss shall be recognized only if the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds
its fair value. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result
from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. That assessment is based on the carrying amount of the asset at the date it is tested for
recoverability. We complete our impairment evaluation by performing internal valuation analyses, considering other publicly available market
information and using an independent valuation firm, as appropriate.

Due to continuing macro-economic conditions affecting the oil and gas industry and the financial performance of all of our reporting units,
management tested for evidence of long-lived asset impairment as of the second and the third quarters of 2009. The assessment for impairment
focused mainly on the Teledrift and Chemical and Logistics reporting units. No impairment was recorded as a result of this assessment.
Management again tested for long-lived asset impairment as of the fourth quarter of 2009 and no impairment was recorded.

Due to the significantly changing business conditions late in the fourth quarter of 2008, we determined that a test of our long-lived assets for
potential impairment was appropriate. An analysis was performed in conjunction with our annual goodwill impairment test and we recognized a
$6.2 million impairment of definite-lived intangible assets, primarily customer lists and patents.

The development of future net undiscounted cash flow projections requires management projections related to sales and profitability trends and
the remaining useful life of the assets. These projections are consistent with projections we use to manage our operations internally. When
impairment is indicated, a discounted cash flow
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valuation model similar to that used to value goodwill at the reporting unit level, incorporating discount rates commensurate with risks
associated with each asset, is used to determine the fair value of the asset to measure potential impairment. Discount rates are determined by
using a weighted average cost of capital (�WACC�). Estimated revenue and WACC are the assumptions most sensitive and susceptible to change
in our long-lived asset analysis as they require significant management judgment. We believe the assumptions used are reflective of what a
market participant would have used in calculating fair value.

Valuation methodologies utilized to evaluate long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairment were consistent with prior periods. Specific
assumptions discussed above are updated at the date of each test to consider current industry and Company-specific risk factors from the
perspective of a market participant. The current business environment is subject to evolving market conditions and requires significant
management judgment to interpret the potential impact to the Company�s assumptions. To the extent that changes in the current business
environment result in adjusted management projections, impairment losses may occur in future periods. To evaluate the sensitivity of the fair
value calculations of our reporting units, we applied a hypothetical 10% increase in our weighted average cost of capital; this hypothetical
change did not result in impairment to any long-lived asset at December 31, 2009. We also evaluated the sensitivity of the fair value calculations
by applying a hypothetical 10% reduction in our estimated future cash flows; this hypothetical change would have triggered an impairment of
certain intangible assets totaling approximately $16 million at December 31, 2009.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers and grants credit based upon past payment history, financial condition and
anticipated industry conditions. The determination of the collectibility of amounts due from our customers requires us to use estimates and make
judgments regarding future events and trends, and includes monitoring our customers� payment history and current credit worthiness in order to
determine that collectibility is reasonably assured, as well as considering the overall business climate in which our customers operate. These
uncertainties require us to make frequent judgments and estimates regarding our customers� ability to pay amounts due us in order to determine
the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts. The main factors utilized in determining the allowance are customer bankruptcies,
delinquency, and management�s estimate of ability to collect outstanding receivables based on the number of days outstanding. Substantially all
of our customers are engaged in the energy industry. The cyclical nature of our industry may affect our customers� operating performance and
cash flows, which could impact our ability to collect on these obligations. Additionally, some of our customers are located in certain
international areas that are inherently subject to risks of economic, political and civil instabilities, which may impact our ability to collect these
receivables.

While credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the provisions established, we cannot give any assurances that we will
continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we have in the past.

Income Taxes

Our income tax expense is based on our income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in
which we operate. We provide for income taxes based on the tax laws and rates in effect in the countries in which operations are conducted and
income is earned. Our income tax expense is expected to fluctuate from year to year as our operations are conducted in different taxing
jurisdictions and the amount of pre-tax income fluctuates.

The determination and evaluation of our annual income tax provision involves the interpretation of tax laws in various jurisdictions in which we
operate and requires significant judgment and the use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future events such as the amount,
timing and character of income, deductions and tax credits. Changes in tax laws, regulations and our level of operations or profitability in each
jurisdiction may impact our tax liability in any given year. While our annual tax provision is based on the information
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available to us at the time, a number of years may elapse before the ultimate tax liabilities in certain tax jurisdictions are determined.

Current income tax expense reflects an estimate of our income tax liability for the current year, withholding taxes, changes in tax rates and
changes in prior year tax estimates as returns are filed. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the anticipated future tax effects of
temporary differences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of our assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates in effect at
year end. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more-likely-than-not that the benefit from the deferred tax asset
will not be realized. We provide for uncertain tax positions pursuant to ASC Topic 740, �Income Taxes�

Our policy is that we recognize interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.

Share-Based Compensation

We have a stock-based incentive plan which includes stock options, restricted stock and other incentive awards. See Note 13, Capital Stock, to
the consolidated financial statements included in �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data� for a complete discussion of our
stock-based compensation program.

Our stock-based compensation expense is estimated at the grant date based on the award�s fair value as calculated by the Black-Scholes-Merton
(BSM) option-pricing model and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period. The BSM model requires various judgmental
assumptions including expected volatility and option life. If any of the assumptions used in the BSM model change significantly, stock-based
compensation expense may differ materially in the future from that recorded in the current period. In addition, we are required to estimate the
expected forfeiture rate and only recognize expense for those shares expected to vest. We estimate the forfeiture rate based on historical
experience. To the extent our actual forfeiture rate is different from our estimate, stock-based compensation expense is adjusted accordingly.

Seasonality

Due to higher spending near the end of the year by customers the results of operations of the Chemical and Logistics segment are generally
stronger in the fourth quarter of the year than at the beginning of the year. The results of operations of our Artificial Lift segment are generally
weaker in the second quarter due to restrictions on drilling on federal lands due to the breeding season of certain bird species.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See �Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Recent Accounting
Pronouncements� to the audited consolidated financial statements, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates, and, to a limited extent, commodity prices and foreign currency exchange rates.
Market risk is measured as the potential negative impact on earnings, cash flows or fair values resulting from a hypothetical change in interest
rates or foreign currency exchange rates over the next year. We manage the exposure to market risks at the corporate level. The portfolio of
interest-sensitive assets and liabilities is monitored and adjusted to provide liquidity necessary to satisfy anticipated short-term needs. Our risk
management policies allow the use of specified financial instruments for hedging purposes only; speculation on interest rates or foreign currency
rates is not permitted. We do not consider any of these risk management activities to be material.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes on the outstanding indebtedness under our senior credit facility which has variable interest
rates. As required by the senior credit facility, we have entered into an interest rate swap agreement on 50% of the term loan facility to partially
reduce our exposure to interest rate risk. The impact on the average outstanding balance of our variable rate indebtedness during 2009 from a
hypothetical 200 basis point increase in interest rates, net of interest rate swap positions, would be an increase in interest expense of
approximately $0.2 million.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

Flotek Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of Flotek Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of December 31,
2009 and 2008, and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Stockholders� Equity and Cash Flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2009. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Flotek
Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

/s/ UHY LLP

Houston, Texas

March 31, 2010
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FLOTEK INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2009 2008
(in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,485 $ 193
Restricted cash 10 9
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $948 and $1,465 at December 31, 2009
and 2008, respectively 14,612 37,205
Inventories 27,232 38,027
Deferred tax assets, current 762 917
Income tax receivable 6,607 �
Other current assets 871 1,291

Total current assets 56,579 77,642

Property and equipment, net 60,251 66,835
Goodwill 26,943 45,443
Other intangible assets, net 34,837 38,015
Deferred tax assets, less current portion � 6,640

Total assets $ 178,610 $ 234,575

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 8,021 $ 22,666
Accrued liabilities 4,941 13,509
Interest payable 2,672 2,402
Income taxes payable � 979
Current portion of long-term debt 8,949 9,017

Total current liabilities 24,583 48,573

Convertible senior notes, net of discount 95,601 90,803
Long-term debt, less current portion 23,589 29,478
Deferred tax liabilities 3,203 �

Total liabilities 146,976 168,854

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders� equity:
Cumulative convertible preferred stock at accreted value, $0.0001 par value, 100,000 shares
authorized, 16,000 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2009 6,943 �
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 80,000,000 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding:
24,168,292 and 23,362,907, respectively, at December 31, 2009; 23,174,286 and 22,782,091,
respectively, at December 31, 2008 2 2
Additional paid-in capital 88,749 76,788
Accumulated other comprehensive income 118 125
Accumulated deficit (63,633) (10,697) 
Treasury stock at cost, 346,270 and 158,697 shares at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively (545) (497) 

Total stockholders� equity 31,634 65,721
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Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 178,610 $ 234,575

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue $ 112,550 $ 226,063 $ 158,008

Cost of revenue 83,166 135,307 94,561

Gross margin 29,384 90,756 63,447

Expenses:
Selling, general and administrative 36,943 46,311 30,639
Depreciation and amortization 4,926 5,570 2,273
Research and development 2,118 1,931 849
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 18,500 67,695 �

Total expenses 62,487 121,507 33,761

Income (loss) from operations (33,103) (30,751) 29,686

Other income (expense):
Interest expense (15,431) (13,813) (3,501) 
Other income (expense), net (155) (96) 956

Total other income (expense) (15,586) (13,909) (2,545) 
Income (loss) before income taxes (48,689) (44,660) 27,141
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (2,016) 10,499 (10,414) 

Net income (loss) (50,705) (34,161) 16,727
Accrued dividends and accretion of discount on preferred stock (2,231) � �

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ (52,936) $ (34,161) $ 16,727

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic earnings (loss) per common share $ (2.70) $ (1.78) $ 0.91
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ (2.70) $ (1.78) $ 0.88

Weighted average common shares used in computing basic earnings (loss) per
common share 19,595,000 19,157,000 18,338,000
Weighted average common and common equivalent shares used in computing
diluted earnings (loss) per common share 19,595,000 19,157,000 18,958,000

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(in thousands)

Common Stock Preferred Stock Treasury Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit) TotalShares Value Shares Value Shares Cost

Balance December 31, 2006 17,694 $ 1 � $ � � $ � $ 46,661 $ 37 $ 6,810 $ 53,509
Net income � � � � � � � � 16,727 16,727
Foreign currency translation adjustment � � � � � � � 8 � 8

Comprehensive income 16,735
Common stock issued for acquisition 143 � � � � � 1,855 � � 1,855
Treasury stock purchased � � � � 70 (190) � � � (190) 
Restricted stock forfeited 2 � � � 2 � � � � �
Stock options and warrants exercised 627 � � � � � 1,502 � � 1,502
Restricted stock granted 337 � � � � � � � � �
Tax benefit of share-based awards � � � � � � 2,473 � � 2,473
Stock compensation expense � � � � � � 1,650 � � 1,650
Adoption of FIN 48 � � � � � � � � (73) (73) 

Balance December 31, 2007 18,803 1 � � 72 (190) 54,141 45 23,464 77,461
Net loss � � � � � � � � (34,161) (34,161) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment � � � � � � � 80 � 80

Comprehensive loss (34,081) 
Common stock issued under share
lending agreement 3,800 1 � � � � � � � 1
Treasury stock purchased � � � � 17 (307) � � � (307) 
Restricted stock forfeited � � � � 70 � � � � �
Stock options exercised 519 � � � � � 905 � � 905
Restricted stock granted 52 � � � � � � � � �
Tax benefit of share-based awards � � � � � � 2,020 � � 2,020
Stock compensation expense � � � � � � 2,500 � � 2,500
Convertible debt bifurcation related to
change in accounting principle, net of tax � � � � � � 17,222 � � 17,222

Balance December 31, 2008 23,174 2 � � 159 (497) 76,788 125 (10,697) 65,721
Net loss � � � � � � � � (50,705) (50,705) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment � � � � � � � (7) � (7) 

Comprehensive loss (50,712) 
Sale of preferred stock and detachable
warrants � � 16 10,806 � � 5,194 � � 16,000
Issuance costs of preferred stock and
detachable warrants � � � � � � (1,199) � � (1,199) 
Accretion of discount on preferred stock � � � 1,331 � � � � (1,331) �
Preferred stock dividends � � � � � � � � (900) (900) 
Beneficial conversion discount on
preferred stock � � � (5,194) � � 5,194 � � �
Restricted stock forfeited � � � � 152 � � � � �
Stock options exercised 100 � � � � � 30 � � 30
Restricted shares issued and treasury
stock purchased in payment of 2008
bonuses 471 � � � 35 (48) 481 � � 433
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Restricted stock granted 423 � � � � � � � � �
Reduction in tax benefit of share-based
awards � � � � � � (195) � � (195) 
Stock compensation expense � � � � � � 1,731 � � 1,731
Tax benefit related to convertible debt
bifurcation � � � � � � 725 � � 725

Balance December 31, 2009 24,168 $ 2 16 $ 6,943 346 $ (545) $ 88,749 $ 118 $ (63,633) $ 31,634

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (50,705) $ (34,161) $ 16,727
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 14,186 12,844 6,537
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,459 1,030 �
Accretion of debt discount 4,798 3,580 �
Equity income from affiliate � � (509) 
Gain on sale of assets (1,365) (2,881) (204) 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 18,500 67,695 �
Stock compensation expense 1,731 2,500 1,650
Reduction in (excess) tax benefit of share-based awards 195 (2,020) (2,473) 
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) 10,500 (20,881) (1,101) 
Unrealized (gain) loss on interest rate swap (199) 533 �
Change in current assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash (1) (1) (9) 
Accounts receivable 22,593 (8,543) (44) 
Inventories 10,795 (14,522) 671
Other current assets (6,158) (233) (49) 
Accounts payable (14,645) 12,415 (2,378) 
Accrued liabilities (9,768) 5,124 3,834
Interest payable 270 2,395 (39) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,186 24,874 22,613

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of assets 2,858 4,554 1,274
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired � (97,973) (53,028) 
Purchase of patents (2) (48) (2,521) 
Other assets � � (585) 
Capital expenditures (6,555) (23,711) (15,672) 

Net cash used in investing activities (3,699) (117,178) (70,532) 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 30 905 1,502
Purchase of treasury stock (48) (307) (190) 
Proceeds from borrowings 21,807 6,729 119,057
Proceeds from convertible debt offering � 115,000 �
Debt issuance costs (819) (5,485) �
Excess (reduction in) tax benefit of share-based awards (195) 2,020 2,473
Repayments of indebtedness (27,764) (27,647) (74,157) 
Proceeds from preferred stock offering 16,000 � �
Issuance costs of preferred stock and detachable warrants (1,199) � �

Net cash provided by financing activities 7,812 91,215 48,685

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (7) � 6
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Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,292 (1,089) 772
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 193 1,282 510

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year $ 6,485 $ 193 $ 1,282

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1�Organization and Nature of Operations

Flotek Industries, Inc. (�Flotek�) is a technology driven global supplier of drilling and production related products and services to the energy and
mining industries. The core focus of Flotek and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the �Company�) is oilfield specialty
chemicals and logistics, downhole drilling tools and downhole production tools. It also manages automated bulk material handling, loading and
blending facilities. The Company�s products and services help customers drill wells more efficiently, increase production from existing wells and
decrease well operating costs. Major customers include leading oilfield service providers, major and independent oil and gas exploration and
production companies, and onshore and offshore drilling contractors. The Company�s headquarters are located in Houston, Texas, and it has
operations in Texas, Oklahoma, Colorado, New Mexico, Louisiana, Utah, Wyoming and The Netherlands. Products are marketed domestically
and internationally in over 20 countries.

Flotek was originally incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on May 17, 1985. On October 23, 2001, Flotek changed
its corporate domicile to the state of Delaware.

Note 2�Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Flotek Industries, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary
corporations. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company does not have
investments in any unconsolidated subsidiaries.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amounts and do not bear
interest. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers and grants credit based upon past payment history, financial condition
and anticipated industry conditions. The determination of the collectibility of amounts due from customers requires management to use estimates
and make judgments regarding future events and trends, and includes monitoring customers� payment history and current credit worthiness in
order to determine that collectibility is reasonably assured, as well as considering the overall business climate in which they customers operate.
These uncertainties requires the Company to make frequent judgments and estimates regarding a customer�s ability to pay amounts due us in
order to determine the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company writes off specific accounts receivable when they are
determined to be uncollectible.

Substantially all of the Company�s customers are engaged in the energy industry. The cyclical nature of the energy industry may affect customers�
operating performance and cash flows, which could impact the Company�s ability to collect on these obligations. Additionally, some customers
are located in certain international areas that are inherently subject to risks of economic, political and civil instabilities, which may impact
collectibility of these receivables.
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Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows (in thousands):

Beginning
Balance

Additions

Write-offs
Ending
Balance

Charged to
Costs
and

Expense

Charged
to

Other
Accounts (a)

Years Ended December 31,
2007 $ 562 $ 460 $ 478 $ (146) $ 1,354
2008 1,354 195 20 (104) 1,465
2009 1,465 45 � (562) 948

(a) Amounts represent amounts obtained from acquisitions.
Inventories: Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods. Finished goods inventories include raw materials, direct
labor and production overhead. The Company determines the value of acquired work-in-process inventories by estimating the selling prices of
finished goods or replacement cost less the sum of (a) cost to complete, (b) costs of disposal, and (c) a reasonable profit allowance for the
completing and selling effort of the Company based on profit for similar finished goods. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market
using the weighted-average cost method. The Company maintains a reserve for slow-moving and obsolete inventories, which is reviewed for
adequacy on a periodic basis.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are stated at cost. The cost of ordinary maintenance and repairs is charged to operations, while
replacements and major improvements are capitalized. Depreciation or amortization is provided on property and equipment, including assets
held under capital leases, using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 3-39 years
Machinery, equipment and rental tools 3-7 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-7 years
Transportation equipment 3-5 years
Computer equipment 3-5 years

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to
future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measured
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds either the fair value or the estimated discounted cash flows of the assets,
whichever is more readily measurable. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill: Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price and related costs over the fair value of net tangible and identifiable intangible
assets acquired in business combinations. Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more
frequently if circumstances indicate a potential impairment. These circumstances may include an adverse change in the business climate or a
change in the assessment of future operations of a reporting unit.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at a reporting unit level. This requires a comparison of the fair value of each reporting unit that has goodwill
associated with its operations with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If this comparison reflects impairment, then the loss would be
measured as the excess of recorded goodwill over its
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implied fair value. Implied fair value is the excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the fair value of all recognized and unrecognized
assets and liabilities. The Company performs the required annual goodwill impairment evaluation in the fourth quarter.

The evaluation of goodwill for possible impairment includes estimating the fair value of each of the reporting units which have goodwill
associated with their operations. To determine its fair value estimates, the Company uses the income approach based on discounted cash flow
analyses, combined with market-related valuation models, including earnings multiples of publicly traded entity businesses that operate in
industries consistent with the Company�s reporting units, and valuation comparisons of recent public sale transactions of similar businesses.
Although the Company believes that the estimates and assumptions used were reasonable, actual results could differ from those estimates and
assumptions. If it is determined that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent
that the fair value of the goodwill within the reporting unit is less than the carrying value of its goodwill.

The Company has four reporting units, of which only two, Chemicals and Logistics and Teledrift, have an unamortized goodwill balance at
December 31, 2009.

Intangible Assets: The Company�s intangible assets have determinable lives and primarily consist of customer relationships, but also include
purchased patents, a purchased brand name and a purchased contract with favorable terms. The Company has no acquired intangible assets with
indefinite lives. The cost of intangible assets with determinable lives is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated period of economic
benefit. No residual value is estimated for these intangible assets. Amortizable lives are adjusted whenever there is a change in the estimated
period of economic benefit.

Intangible assets with definite lives are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. These conditions may include an economic downturn, an adverse change in the extent or manner in which the asset is being
used, a decline in stock value for a sustained period of time, or a change in the assessment of future operations. An impairment loss is recognized
if the carrying amount of the long-lived intangible asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value.

When facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an intangible asset may not be recoverable, the Company assesses the
recoverability of the carrying value by preparing estimates of future revenue, margins and cash flows. If the sum of expected future cash flows
(undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. The impairment loss recognized
is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value.

Fair Value Measurements: The Company accounts for its assets and liabilities in accordance with ASC Topic 820, �Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures,� which defines a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs in fair value measurements and requires certain related disclosures. The
hierarchy prioritizes the inputs of fair value measurements into one of three levels. �Level 1� measurements are measurements using quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. �Level 2� measurements use significant other observable inputs. �Level 3� measurements are
measurements using significant unobservable inputs which require a company to develop its own assumptions. In recording the fair value of
assets and liabilities, companies must use the most reliable measurement available.

Revenue Recognition: Revenue for product sales and services are recognized when all of the following criteria have been met: (i) persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, (ii) products are shipped or services rendered to the customer and all significant risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the customer, (iii) the price to the customer is fixed and determinable and (iv) collectibility is reasonably assured.
Products and services are sold with fixed or determinable prices and do not include right of return or other similar provisions or other significant
post delivery obligations. Deposits and other funds received in advance of delivery are deferred until the transfer
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of ownership is complete. Shipping and handling costs are reflected in cost of revenue. Taxes collected are not included in revenue and are
accrued for future remittance to governmental authorities.

The Logistics group recognizes revenue from its design and construction oversight contracts under the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting, measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs of completion. This percentage is applied to the total
estimated revenue at completion to calculate revenue earned to date. Contract costs include all direct labor and material costs and those indirect
costs related to manufacturing and construction operations. General and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Changes in job
performance and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract bonus or penalty provisions and final contract settlements, may
result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which such revisions appear probable. All known or anticipated losses
on contracts are recognized in full when such amounts become apparent. Bulk material transload revenue is recognized as services are
performed for the customer.

Within the Drilling Products segment amounts billed to customers for the cost of oilfield rental equipment that is damaged or lost-in-hole are
reflected as revenue with the carrying value of the related equipment charged to cost of sales. This amount totaled $2.9 million, $4.4 million and
$2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The Company is generally not contractually obligated to accept returns, except for defective products. If a product is determined to be defective,
the Company will replace the product or issue a credit memo. Based on historical return rates, no provision is made for returns at the time of
sale. All costs associated with product returns are expensed as incurred.

Foreign Currency: The functional currencies of the Company�s foreign subsidiaries are the respective local currencies. Assets and liabilities of
foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect as of the end of the reporting period. Revenue and expense items
are translated at the average monthly exchange rates for the reporting period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a component
of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders� equity.

Research and Development Costs: Expenditures for research activities relating to product development and improvement are charged to expense
as incurred.

Income Taxes: The Company�s income tax expense is based on income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to it in the
various jurisdictions in which it operates. The Company provides for income taxes based on the tax laws and rates in effect in the countries in
which operations are conducted and income is earned. The Company�s income tax expense is expected to fluctuate from year to year as
operations are conducted in different taxing jurisdictions and the amount of pre-tax income fluctuates.

The determination and evaluation of the Company�s annual income tax provision involves the interpretation of tax laws in various jurisdictions in
which it operates and requires significant judgment and the use of estimates and assumptions regarding significant future events such as the
amount, timing and character of income, deductions and tax credits. Changes in tax laws, regulations and the Company�s level of operations or
profitability in each jurisdiction may impact its tax liability in any given year. While the Company�s annual tax provision is based on the
information available to it at the time, a number of years may elapse before the ultimate tax liabilities in certain tax jurisdictions are determined.

The Company�s current income tax expense reflects an estimate of its income tax liability for the current year, withholding taxes, changes in tax
rates and changes in prior year tax estimates as returns are filed. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the anticipated future tax
effects of temporary differences between the
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financial statement basis and the tax basis of the Company�s assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates in effect at year end. A valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more-likely-than-not that the benefit from the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The
Company provides for uncertain tax positions pursuant to the provisions of ASC 740. The Company�s policy recognizes interest and penalties
accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The Company and its subsidiaries� state income tax returns are
open to audit under the statute of limitations for the years ending December 31, 2006 through 2009.

It is the Company�s intention to permanently reinvest undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries in such subsidiaries. Accordingly, the
Company has not provided for U.S. deferred taxes on the undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries. If a distribution is made to us from the
undistributed earnings of these subsidiaries, the Company could be required to record additional taxes. Because the Company cannot predict
when, if at all, it will make a distribution of these undistributed earnings, it is unable to make a determination of the amount of unrecognized
deferred tax liability.

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income
(loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and potentially dilutive common
equivalent shares outstanding, if the effect is dilutive. Potential common shares consist of incremental shares of common stock issuable upon the
exercise of the stock options and warrants and upon conversion of the convertible senior notes and convertible preferred stock.

Debt Issuance Costs: The costs related to the issuance of debt are capitalized and amortized to interest expense using the straight-line method,
which approximates the interest method, over the maturity periods of the related debt.

Stock-Based Compensation: The Company accounts for its stock compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718, �Compensation-Stock
Compensation� for equity-based payments to employees. The guidance incorporated by ASC Topic 718 covers share-based payments to
employees, including grants of employee stock options and restricted stock awards, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their
grant-date fair values.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and certain assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the application of the percentage-of-completion method of revenue
recognition, the carrying amount and estimated useful lives of intangible assets, determination of share-based compensation expense, the
valuation allowance for accounts receivable and inventories and certain assumptions used in impairment analyses. While management believes
current estimates are reasonable and appropriate, actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Supplemental non-cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired:
Fair value of net assets acquired $ � $ 97,973 $ 58,233
Less cash acquired � � (605) 
Less debt issued � � (1,544) 
Less equity issued � � (1,855) 
Less equity in earnings prior to acquisition and other � � (1,201) 

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired $ � $ 97,973 $ 53,028

Property and equipment acquired through capital leases $ 211 $ 599 $ 206

Shares issued in payment of accrued bonus $ 481 $ � $ �

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 9,063 $ 6,434 $ 2,852
Income taxes paid $ 3,685 $ 8,244 $ 8,061
Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Accounting Standards Update (�ASU�) 2010-06, �Improving
Disclosures about Fair Value Measurements,� which amends Accounting Standards Codification (�ASC� or �Codification�) Topic 820-10 to require
new disclosures related to the movements in and out of Levels 1, 2, and 3 and clarifies existing disclosures regarding the classification and
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2009, except for the disclosures about certain Level 3 fair value measurements, which are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 31, 2010. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the additional requirements, but does not anticipate any financial impact
as the requirements primarily provide for additional disclosure.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-15, �Accounting for Own-Share Lending Arrangements in Contemplation of Convertible Debt
Issuance or Other Financing� which amends or added certain paragraphs to the related ASC Topic 470, �Debt.� This standard addresses the
accounting for an entity�s own-share lending arrangement initiated in conjunction with convertible debt or another financing offering and the
effect a share-lending arrangement has on earnings per share. Additionally, the guidance addresses the accounting and earnings per share
implications for defaults by the share borrower, both when a default becomes probable of occurring and when a default actually occurs. This
guidance is effective for interim or annual periods beginning after June 15, 2009 for new share-lending arrangements. For existing share-lending
arrangements, the guidance is applied retrospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2009. Early adoption is prohibited. The
Company is currently evaluating the effect of the accounting principle, but does not expect that its adoption will have a material effect on its
consolidated financial statements. The Company will make the required disclosures and present the retrospective effect following adoption of
this guidance effective January 1, 2010.

In August 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-05, �Measuring Liabilities at Fair Value,� which amends ASC Topic 820-10, �Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures � Overall,� for the fair value measurement of liabilities. This update specifies valuation techniques allowed for
measurement of the fair value of liabilities and
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clarifies when the quoted price for an identical liability traded as an asset in an active market can be recognized as a Level 1 fair value
measurement. This guidance is effective for the first reporting period, including interim periods, beginning after its issuance. The Company
adopted this guidance effective October 1, 2009. Adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009-01, Topic 105, �Generally Accepted Accounting Principles,� which released the Accounting Standards
Codification. The Codification serves as a single source of authoritative GAAP to be used in the preparation of financial statements of
nongovernmental entities that are presented in conformity with GAAP in the United States, except for the rules and interpretive releases of the
SEC, which are sources of authoritative GAAP for registrants. Authoritative standards included in the Codification are designated by their ASC
topical reference, with new standards designated as ASU�s, with a year and assigned sequence number. The guidance is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after September 15, 2009. Adoption of this standard did not change GAAP and had no financial impact on the
Company�s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2009, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to subsequent events found within ASC Topic 855, �Subsequent Events.� This
guidance sets standards for the disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date, but before financial statements are issued or are
available to be issued. Additionally, the guidance sets forth the period after the balance sheet date during which management of a reporting
entity should evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or disclosure in the financial statements, the circumstances
under which an entity should recognize events or transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements, and the
disclosures that an entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date. The Company adopted this
guidance effective June 30, 2009. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company�s consolidated financial
statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued accounting guidance related to interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments found within ASC
Topic 825, �Financial Instruments.� This guidance requires fair value disclosures in both interim as well as annual financial statements in order to
provide more timely information about the effects of current market conditions on financial instruments. The Company adopted this guidance
effective June 30, 2009. The implementation of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

Note 3�Acquisitions

On February 14, 2008, Teledrift Acquisition, Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired substantially all of the assets of
Teledrift, Inc. (�Teledrift�) for the aggregate cash purchase price of approximately $98.0 million, which includes a purchase price adjustment of
$1.8 million recorded in the third quarter of 2008. The acquisition resulted in goodwill of $46.4 million and intangible assets other than goodwill
of $31.6 million, which were recorded in the Drilling Products business segment. Teledrift designs and manufactures wireless survey and
measurement while drilling, or MWD, tools.

On January 4, 2007, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of Triumph Drilling Tools, Inc. (�Triumph�) for $31.1 million in cash. The
acquisition resulted in goodwill of $19.9 million and intangible assets other than goodwill of $1.9 million, which were recorded in the Drilling
Products business segment. Triumph is a leading regional provider of down-hole rental equipment to the oil and gas industry. Results of
operations for Triumph are included in the Company�s consolidated condensed statements of income as of January 1, 2007.

In January 2007, the Company acquired a 50% partnership interest in CAVO Drilling Motors Ltd Co. (�CAVO�) for approximately $2.6 million in
cash, 143,434 shares of the Company�s common stock valued at $1.9 million and a $1.5 million promissory note to the seller. CAVO is a
complete downhole motor solutions provider
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specializing in the rental, servicing and sale of high-performance mud motors for a variety of drilling applications. CAVO serves both the
domestic and international drilling markets with a customer base extending throughout North America, South America, Russia and West Africa.
For the first ten months of 2007 the Company reported the partnership interest in CAVO using the equity method of accounting as the Company
did not own a controlling interest. The equity in earnings and other adjustments affecting the Company�s investment in CAVO during 2007 were
approximately $1.2 million.

On November 15, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of the remaining 50% partnership interest in CAVO. The Company paid
aggregate consideration of $12.5 million in cash and assumed $0.2 million in long-term debt. From November 1, 2007 through the end of the
year CAVO was accounted for as a fully owned subsidiary.

On August 31, 2007, the Company acquired Sooner Energy Services, Inc. (�Sooner�) for $7.2 million in cash. Sooner develops, produces and
distributes specialty chemical products and services for drilling and production of natural gas. Sooner serves natural gas producers, oilfield
supply stores, drilling mud and other service companies in North America. Results of operations for Sooner are included in the Company�s
consolidated condensed statement of income as of September 1, 2007.

Note 4�Product Revenue

The Company generates revenue through three main sales channels: Products, Rentals and Services. In most instances, revenue is generated
through these channels on an integrated basis. Sales channel information is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Revenue:
Product $ 72,282 $ 145,074 $ 118,443
Rental 28,620 60,343 24,349
Service 11,648 20,646 15,216

112,550 226,063 158,008

Cost of Revenue:
Product 48,728 88,384 71,190
Rental 17,769 28,093 11,086
Service 7,409 11,556 8,021
Depreciation 9,260 7,274 4,264

$ 83,166 $ 135,307 $ 94,561

Note 5�Inventories

The components of inventories are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009 2008

Raw materials $ 9,653 $ 16,258
Work-in-process � 1,890
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Finished goods (includes in-transit) 20,659 22,286

Gross inventories 30,312 40,434
Less: slow-moving and obsolescence reserve (3,080) (2,407) 

Inventories, net $ 27,232 $ 38,027
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The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand and records provisions for slow-moving or obsolete inventory based primarily on
forecasts of product demand, historical trends, market conditions, production or procurement requirements and technological developments.

The following summarizes the changes in inventory reserve for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 (in thousands):

Additions

Beginning
Balance

Charged to
Costs
and

Expense

Charged
to

Other
Accounts (a) Deductions

Ending
Balance

Years Ended December 31,
2007 $ 862 $ 1,261 $ 553 $ (282) $ 2,394
2008 2,394 3,567 � (3,554) 2,407
2009 2,407 6,340 � (5,667) 3,080

(a) Amounts represent amounts obtained from acquisitions.
Note 6�Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009 2008

Land $ 1,338 $ 1,381
Buildings and leasehold improvements 19,143 16,354
Machinery, equipment and rental tools 62,369 55,866
Equipment in progress 133 5,472
Furniture and fixtures 1,306 1,172
Transportation equipment 4,252 4,927
Computer equipment 1,750 1,255

Gross property and equipment 90,291 86,427
Less: accumulated depreciation (30,040) (19,592) 

Property and equipment, net $ 60,251 $ 66,835

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $11.7 million, $9.4 million and $5.4 million, respectively.
Depreciation expense that directly relates to activities that generate revenue amounted to $9.3 million, $7.3 million and $4.3 million for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and is recorded within cost of revenues.

Note 7�Goodwill

The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a potential impairment. Annual
goodwill impairment evaluations are performed in the fourth quarter. The Company has identified four reporting units, of which only two,
Chemicals and Logistics and Teledrift, have an unamortized goodwill balance at December 31, 2009.
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During the Company�s annual testing for goodwill impairment during the fourth quarter of 2008, impairments totaling $61.5 million were
identified within three of the four reporting units. The impairment charge was recorded as an operating expense during the year ended
December 31, 2008. The Company again tested for
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goodwill impairment during the second and third quarters of 2009 as a result of the continuing deterioration of the general economic and oil and
gas industry conditions, and the declining financial performance of all of its reporting units. An impairment totaling $18.5 million was identified
and recorded as an operating expense during the six months ended June 30, 2009. No further impairments of goodwill were recognized during
the Company�s interim or annual testing for goodwill impairment during the third and fourth quarters of 2009.

In estimating the fair value of the Company�s reporting units, management makes estimates and judgments about future cash flows and market
valuations using a combination of income and market approaches, respectively, defined as Level 3 inputs under the fair value measurement
hierarchy. The income approach, specifically a discounted cash flow analysis, included assumptions for, among others, discount rates, cash flow
projections, growth rates and terminal value rates, all of which require significant judgment. Specific assumptions discussed above are updated
at the date of each test to consider current industry and Company-specific risk factors from the perspective of a market participant.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for each reporting unit for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were as follows
(in thousands):

Chemicals
and

Logistics
Downhole
Tool Teledrift

Artificial
Lift Total

Balance at January 1, 2007 $ 7,620 $ 9,689 $ � $ 6,876 $ 24,185
Goodwill acquired:
Triumph � 19,872 � � 19,872
CAVO � 13,487 � � 13,487
Sooner 3,990 � � � 3,990
Purchase price adjustments and reclassifications to intangible
assets � (39) � (1,015) (1,054) 

Balance at December 31, 2007 11,610 43,009 � 5,861 60,480
Goodwill acquired: Teledrift � � 46,396 � 46,396
Impairment � (43,009) (12,563) (5,861) (61,433) 

Balance at December 31, 2008 11,610 � 33,833 � 45,443
Impairment � � (18,500) � (18,500) 

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 11,610 $ � $ 15,333 $ � $ 26,943
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Note 8�Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008

Other intangible assets:
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Patents $ 6,282 $ 2,618 $ 6,280 $ 2,302
Customer lists 28,543 7,843 28,543 6,493
Non-compete agreements 1,715 1,500 1,715 1,420
Brand name 6,199 638 6,199 330
Supply contract 1,700 921 1,700 606
Other 428 405 501 308

Other acquired intangible assets total 44,867 13,925 44,938 11,459

Deferred financing costs 6,468 2,573 5,650 1,114

Total other intangible assets $ 51,335 $ 16,498 $ 50,588 $ 12,573

Other intangible assets, net $ 34,837 $ 38,015

Other intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis ranging from two to 20 years. The Company recorded other intangible asset
amortization expense of $2.5 million and $3.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The following table
summarizes estimated aggregate amortization expense for other intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal years (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,
2010 $ 4,082
2011 3,765
2012 2,861
2013 2,050
2014 1,955

In December 2008, testing of the Company�s intangible assets due to the deteriorating macro-economic environment and business conditions
affecting the oil and gas industry indicated impairment of several intangible assets. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment charge of
$6.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily related to customer lists and patents in the Artificial Lift and Drilling Products
segments. Due to the continuing deterioration of the general economic and oil and gas industry conditions, and the declining financial
performance of all of its reporting units, the Company tested for potential impairment of its intangible assets in the second, third and fourth
quarters of 2009. The Company utilized an income approach (Level 3) consistent with that described in Note 7, Goodwill. No impairment was
recorded as a result of these tests during the year ended December 31, 2009.
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Note 9�Convertible Senior Notes and Long-Term Debt

Convertible Senior Notes and long-term debt are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009 2008

Convertible Senior Notes $ 115,000 $ 115,000
Less discount on notes (19,399) (24,197) 

Convertible Senior Notes, net of discount $ 95,601 $ 90,803

Long-term debt:
Senior Credit Facility
Equipment term loans $ 21,210 $ 34,000
Revolving line of credit 9,953 2,311
Real estate term loans 717 787
Other � 515
Capital lease obligations 658 882

Total 32,538 38,495
Less current portion (8,949) (9,017) 

Long-term debt, less current portion $ 23,589 $ 29,478

Convertible Senior Notes

On February 14, 2008, the Company issued 5.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2028 (the �Notes�), at par, in the aggregate principal amount of
$115 million. Net proceeds received from issuance of the Notes were $111.8 million. The Company used the net proceeds from issuance of the
Notes to finance the acquisition of Teledrift (see Note 3) and for general corporate purposes.

Because the Company is a holding company with no independent assets or operations, the Notes are guaranteed by the Company and each of its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. The guarantees are full and unconditional, and joint and several, on a senior, unsecured basis. The agreements
governing the Company�s long-term indebtedness do not contain any significant restrictions on the ability of the Company or any guarantor to
obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.

Interest on the Notes accrues at 5.25% per annum, and is payable semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The
Company is also required to pay contingent interest to holders of the Notes during any six-month period from an interest payment date to, but
excluding, the following interest payment date, commencing with the six-month period beginning on February 15, 2013, if the trading price of a
Note for each of the five trading days ending on the third trading day immediately preceding the first day of the relevant six-month period equals
120% or more of the principal amount of the Note. The amount of contingent interest payable per Note with respect to any such period will be
equal to 0.50% per annum of the average trading price of such Note for the five trading days referred to above.

The Notes mature on February 15, 2028. On or after February 15, 2013, the Company may redeem for cash all or a portion of the Notes at a
redemption price of 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest (including any contingent
interest) to, but not including, the redemption date. Holders may require the Company to purchase all or a portion of their Notes on each of
February 15, 2013, February 15, 2018, and February 15, 2023. In addition, if the Company experiences specific types of corporate transactions,
holders may require the Company to purchase all or a portion of their Notes. Any repurchase of Notes pursuant to these provisions will be for

Edgar Filing: FLOTEK INDUSTRIES INC/CN/ - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 85



cash at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be purchased plus accrued and unpaid interest (including any contingent
interest) to, but not including, the purchase date.
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The Notes are convertible into shares of the Company�s common stock at the option of the holder, subject to specified conditions. The conversion
rate is 43.9560 shares per $1,000 principal amount of Notes (equal to a conversion price of approximately $22.75 per share), subject to
adjustment. Upon conversion, the Company will deliver, at its option, either shares of common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of
common stock.

Because the Notes may be settled in cash upon conversion, the Company has accounted for the liability and equity components of the Notes in a
manner that reflects the Company�s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate. The Company assumed an 11.5% nonconvertible debt interest rate and
an expected term of the debt of five years to determine the debt discount. The expected term of five years is based upon the time until a call/put
option can be exercised on the Notes in February 2013. The effective tax rate assumed was 38.0%. At the date of issuance, the discount on the
Notes was $27.8 million, with a related deferred tax liability of $10.6 million. The resulting discount on the Notes is being accreted over the
period the convertible debt is expected to be outstanding as additional noncash interest expense. During the years ended December 31, 2009 and
2008, noncash interest expense related to accretion of the discount was $4.8 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

On March 31, 2010, the Company executed an exchange agreement with Whitebox Advisors, LLC and a syndicate of lenders under the
Company�s new senior secured credit facility. This will permit the exchange of up to $40 million of the Company�s Notes for the aggregate
consideration of $36 million in new convertible senior secured notes and $2 million in shares of the Company�s common stock (see Note 19).

Senior Credit Facility

On March 31, 2008, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the �Credit Agreement�) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (�Wells Fargo�), as
administrative agent for a syndicate of lenders, for a $65 million senior credit facility (the �Senior Credit Facility�). The facility includes a term
loan facility of $40 million (the �Term Loan Facility�) and a revolving credit facility with a maximum availability of $25 million (the �Revolving
Credit Facility�). Initial borrowing under this Credit Agreement refinanced substantially all borrowing under a similar credit agreement with
Wells Fargo.

The Term Loan Facility is limited to the initial advance, and amounts repaid may not be re-borrowed. The maximum amount of credit available
under the Revolving Credit Facility is equal to the lesser of $25 million or the amount determined through a borrowing base calculation using
eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory, as specified in the Credit Agreement.

Borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility are guaranteed by the Company and its domestic subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all
present and future assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. Outstanding balances under the Term Loan Facility and the Revolving Credit
Facility mature and are due on March 31, 2011.

Principal payments of $2 million are due quarterly under the Term Loan Facility. In addition, mandatory prepayments are required annually
beginning April 15, 2009, equal to 50% of the Company�s excess cash flow for the previous calendar year. The Company is further required to
make certain mandatory prepayments under the Term Loan Facility upon the receipt of proceeds from any debt or equity issuances and upon
certain asset sales. In addition, if the outstanding balance under the Term Loan Facility exceeds 75% of the appraised orderly liquidation value
of the Company�s fixed assets at any time, the Company must reduce the Term Loan Facility by such excess amount.

Interest accrues on amounts outstanding under the Senior Credit Facility at variable rates based on, at the Company�s election, the prime rate or
LIBOR, plus an applicable margin specified in the Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2009, the Company had elected to apply the prime rate,
plus the applicable margin, to certain portions of the outstanding balance and to apply LIBOR, plus the applicable margin, to other portions of
the
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outstanding balance. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings outstanding under the Senior Credit Facility at December 31, 2009 and
2008 was 8.46% and 5.14%, respectively. In accordance with terms of the Credit Agreement, the Company is required to enter into an interest
rate swap to fix the interest rate on a minimum of 50% of borrowings under the Term Loan Facility (see Note 10).

Borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility are subject to certain covenants and a material adverse change subjective acceleration clause.
Affirmative covenants include compliance with laws, various reporting requirements, visitation rights, maintenance of insurance, maintenance of
properties, keeping of records and books of account, preservation of assets, notification of adverse events, ERISA compliance, agreements with
new subsidiaries, borrowing base audits and use of treasury management services. Negative covenants include limitations associated with liens,
indebtedness, change in nature of business, transactions with affiliates, investments, dividends and distributions, subordinate debt, leverage ratio,
fixed charge coverage ratio, consolidated net income, asset sales and capital expenditures.

The Credit Agreement contains certain financial and other covenants, including a minimum net worth covenant, a maximum leverage ratio
covenant, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, a maximum senior leverage ratio covenant, a covenant restricting capital
expenditures, a covenant limiting the incurrence of additional indebtedness, and a covenant restricting acquisitions.

During 2009, the Company amended the Credit Agreement on four occasions, to provide, among other things, a decrease in the aggregate
revolving commitment, an increase in the interest margin applicable to borrowings, and changes in financial covenants related to minimum net
worth, the leverage ratio, the fixed charge coverage ratio, and maximum annual capital expenditures. At December 31, 2009, certain specific
financial requirements and ratios are as follows:

Aggregate revolving credit limit $15 million, but limited to $14.5 million (subject to change)

Interest rate margin 6.5% (above the prime rate or LIBOR)

Minimum net worth, as defined $42.8 million

Leverage ratio, beginning June 30, 2010 4.75 to 1.0, declining quarterly to 3.75 to 1.0 at December 31, 2010

Fixed charge coverage ratio 1.10 to 1.0, increasing to 1.25 to 1.0 at September 30, 2010

Senior leverage ratio Maximum of 2.0 to 1.0

Maximum annual capital expenditures $11 million for 2010
At December 31, 2009, the Company was not in compliance with the minimum net worth, fixed charge coverage ratio, and senior leverage ratio
covenants of the Credit Agreement.

On March 31, 2010, the Company executed an amended and restated credit agreement with Whitebox Advisors, LLC for a $40 million term
loan. Pursuant to this new agreement the Company�s existing Senior Credit Facility was renewed and extended, and the Company received cash
proceeds of $6.1 million (see Note 19).

Other

In conjunction with the acquisition of a 50% interest in CAVO in January 2007, the Company issued a $1.5 million note payable to the seller.
The note bore interest at 6% and was paid in full in December 2009.
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Capital Lease Obligations

The Company leases certain equipment and vehicles under capital leases. At December 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $0.7 million
in capitalized lease obligations.

Maturities of long-term debt obligations at December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

Long-Term
Debt

Capital
Leases

Total Long-
Term Debt
and Capital
Leases

Convertible
Senior Notes

Year Ending December 31,
2010 $ 8,717 $ 232 $ 8,949 $ �
2011 23,163 205 23,368 �
2012 � 154 154 �
2013 � 64 64 115,000
2014 � 3 3 �
Thereafter � � � �

Total $ 31,880 $ 658 $ 32,538 $ 115,000

Note 10�Interest Rate Swap

As required by its senior credit facility, the Company has entered into an interest rate swap agreement on a minimum of 50% of the term loan
facility (see Note 9) to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk. At December 31, 2009, the interest rate swap had a notional amount of $21.0
million, swap rate of 2.79% and a fair value of $334,000. The Company records the fair value of the swap in accrued liabilities and the
unrealized gain (loss) in other income (expense). For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company recognized a gain of $199,000
and a loss of $533,000, respectively, on the interest rate swap. In March 2010, the Company terminated the interest rate swap.

Note 11�Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following table presents fair value measurements by level at December 31, 2009 and 2008 for liabilities included in the consolidated
balances sheets at fair value and measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2009 Using
Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for

Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) Total

Interest rate swap(1) $ $ (334) $ $ (334) 

Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2008 Using
Total
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Quoted
Prices
in Active
Markets
for

Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)

Interest rate swap(1) $ $ (533) $ $ (533) 

(1) See Note 10 for discussion of the interest rates swap. The swap valuation is obtained from a bank estimate using pricing models with
market-based inputs.

66

Edgar Filing: FLOTEK INDUSTRIES INC/CN/ - Form 10-K

Table of Contents 90



Table of Contents

FLOTEK INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The estimated fair value and carrying value of the Company�s other financial instruments are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Convertible Senior Notes(1) $ 95,601 $ 60,375 $ 90,803 $ 28,750
Senior Credit Facility 31,880 31,880 37,098 37,098
Capital lease obligations 658 628 882 845
Other � � 515 515

(1) The Convertible Senior Note carrying value represents the bifurcated debt component only, while the fair value is based on quoted market
prices for the convertible note, which includes the convertible equity features.

In 2009, the Company determined the estimated fair value amount of the Convertible Senior Notes based on quoted market price of the notes. In
2008, the Company determined the estimated fair value amount of the Convertible Senior Notes by using available market information and
commonly accepted valuation methodologies. The fair value of the Senior Credit Facility approximates fair value because interest rates are
variable, and accordingly, the carrying value approximates current market value for instruments with similar risks and maturities. Fair value of
the capital leases was determined based on recent lease rates adjusted for a risk premium. At December 31, 2008, the fair value of the other note
approximated carrying value due its short-term maturity. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value of all other receivables and liabilities
approximated their carrying values due to the short-tem nature of these instruments. The Company had no cash equivalents at December 31,
2009 and 2008.

The Company�s non-financial assets, including goodwill, other intangible assets and property and equipment are measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis and are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances (e.g., when there is evidence of impairment). Fair value
measurements and adjustments to goodwill and other intangible assets are discussed in Note 7 and Note 8, respectively.

Note 12�Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and potentially dilutive common
equivalent shares outstanding, if the effect is dilutive. Because of the net loss during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, potentially
dilutive securities were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share, since including them would have an anti-dilutive effect on
net loss per share.

In connection with the sale of the 5.25% convertible senior notes in February 2008, the Company entered into a share lending agreement for
3,800,000 shares of its common stock (see Note 15). Contractual undertakings of the borrower have the effect of substantially eliminating the
economic dilution that otherwise would result from the issuance of the borrowed shares, and all shares outstanding under the share lending
agreement are required to be returned to the Company in the future. As a result, the 3,800,000 shares of the Company�s stock lent under the share
lending agreement are not considered to be outstanding for the purpose of computing and reporting earnings per share.
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The computational components of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Weighted average common shares used in computing basic earnings (loss) per common share 19,595 19,157 18,338
Incremental common shares from stock options and warrants � � 620

Weighted average common shares used in computing diluted earnings (loss) per common share 19,595 19,157 18,958

Securities convertible into shares of common stock, not used because the effect would be anti-dilutive for 2009 and 2008, are as follows (in
thousands):

2009 2008
Stock options under long-term incentive plans 1,605 857
Stock warrants 10,480 �
Convertible senior notes (if-converted) 5,055 5,055
Convertible preferred stock (if-converted) 6,957 �

24,097 5,912

Note 13�Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Current:
Federal $ (9,196) $ 8,681 $ 9,718
State 273 1,254 1,525
Foreign 439 447 272

Total current (8,484) 10,382 11,515

Deferred:
Federal 10,474 (20,287) (1,091) 
State 26 (594) (10) 

Total deferred 10,500 (20,881) (1,101) 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ 2,016 $ (10,499) $ 10,414
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A reconciliation of the actual tax rate to the statutory U.S. tax rate is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
  2009    2008    2007  

Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 0.9 (0.8) 3.2
Change in valuation allowance (38.6) � �
Goodwill impairment � (11.6) �
Other (1.4) 0.9 0.2

Effective income tax rate (4.1)% 23.5% 38.4%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts reported for income tax purposes at the enacted tax rates in effect when the differences reverse. The
components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2009 2008

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 11,994 $ 6,783
Allowance for doubtful accounts 213 533
Inventory 578 707
Equity compensation 881 170
Goodwill and other intangible assets 19,820 15,055
Other 404 331

Total gross deferred tax assets 33,890 23,579
Valuation allowance (18,784) �

Total deferred tax assets, net 15,106 23,579

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (7,420) (6,696) 
Convertible debt, net of discount (10,021) (9,195) 
Prepaid insurance and other (106) (131) 

Total gross deferred tax liabilities (17,547) (16,022) 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (2,441) $ 7,557

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had estimated U.S. net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $32.5 million, expiring in various
amounts in 2021 through 2029. The ability to utilize net operating losses and other tax attributes could be subject to a significant limitation if the
Company were to undergo an �ownership change� for purposes of Section 382 of the tax code.
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The Company�s current corporate organizational structure requires it to file two separate consolidated U.S. Federal income tax returns. As a
result, taxable income of one group cannot be offset by tax attributes, including net operating losses, of the other group. As of December 31,
2009, one of the groups has a net operating loss carryforward and other net deferred tax assets of approximately $18.8 million. The Company
considered all available evidence, both positive and negative, to determine whether, based on the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance
was needed. Based on this analysis, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of $18.8 million as management believes it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The other group incurred a net operating loss of approximately $22.4 million during the
year ended December 31, 2009 which will be carried back to prior years for an anticipated refund. The anticipated refund has been recorded as
an income tax receivable at December 31, 2009.
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The Company has not provided for withholding and U.S. taxes for the unremitted earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries because it intends to
permanently reinvest a portion of the unremitted earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries in their foreign operations. At December 31, 2009, the
Company had approximately $2.7 million in unremitted earnings outside the United States for which withholding and U.S. taxes were not
provided. Income tax expense would be incurred if these funds were remitted to the United States. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of
the deferred tax liability on such unremitted earnings.

The Company has performed an evaluation and concluded that there are no significant uncertain tax positions requiring recognition in the
Company�s financial statements. The evaluation was performed for the tax years which remain subject to examination by major tax jurisdictions
as of December 31, 2009, which are the years ended December 31, 2004 through December 31, 2009. The Company�s policy is to record interest
and penalties related to income tax matters as income tax expense. Accrued interest and penalties and the related expense were not material to
the consolidated financial statements.

Note 14�Convertible Preferred Stock and Stock Warrants

On August 12, 2009, the Company sold 16,000 units (the �Units�), consisting of Series A cumulative convertible preferred stock and warrants, for
$1,000 per Unit, yielding aggregate gross proceeds of $16.0 million. Net proceeds from issuance of the Units were $14.8 million. The Company
used the net proceeds from the sale of Units to reduce borrowings under the Company�s bank credit facility, thereby providing additional
availability of credit, and for general corporate purposes.

Each Unit was comprised of one share of cumulative convertible preferred stock (�Convertible Preferred Stock�), warrants to purchase up to 155
shares of the Company�s common stock at an exercise price of $2.31 per share (�Exercisable Warrants�) and contingent warrants to purchase up to
500 shares of the Company�s common stock at an exercise price of $2.45 per share (�Contingent Warrants�).

Each share of Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible at the holder�s option, at any time, into 434.782 shares of the Company�s common stock.
This conversion rate represents an equivalent conversion price of approximately $2.30 per share of common stock. The conversion rate is subject
to adjustment in the event of stock splits, stock dividends and distributions, reorganizations and similar events affecting the common stock.

Each share of Convertible Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $1,000. Dividends accrue at the rate of 15% of the liquidation
preference per year and accumulate if not paid quarterly. The Company may pay dividends, at its option, in cash, common stock (based on the
market value of the common stock) or a combination thereof. At December 31, 2009, the Company had accrued and unpaid dividends of
$900,000.

The Company may, at its option (but not earlier than February 12, 2010), automatically convert the preferred shares into common shares if the
closing price of the common stock is equal to or greater than 150% of the then current conversion price for any 15 trading days during any 30
consecutive trading day period. If the Convertible Preferred Stock automatically converts and the Company has not previously paid holders
amounts equal to at least eight quarterly dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Company will also pay to the holders, in connection
with any automatic conversion, an amount, in cash or shares of common stock, equal to eight quarterly dividends less any dividends previously
paid to holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock.

The Company may redeem any of the Convertible Preferred Stock beginning on August 12, 2012. The initial redemption price will be 105% of
the liquidation preference, declining to 102.5% on August 12, 2013, and to 100% on or after August 12, 2014, in each case plus accrued and
unpaid dividends to the redemption date.
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The Exercisable Warrants are immediately exercisable and will expire if not exercised by August 12, 2014. The Contingent warrants became
exercisable on November 9, 2009 and will expire if not exercised by November 9, 2014. Both the Exercisable Warrants and Contingent
Warrants contain anti-dilution price protection in the event the Company issues shares of common stock or securities exercisable for or
convertible into common stock at a price per share less than their exercise price.

The gross proceeds from the issuance of the Units were allocated at the date of the transaction based on the relative fair values of the preferred
stock and the warrants. In order to calculate the relative fair values, the Company obtained third-party valuations of the fair value of the debt and
equity components of the Units. The fair value of the warrants was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using a five-year
term, volatility of 54%, a risk free rate of 2.7% and assumed dividend rate of zero. The fair value of the preferred stock component was
determined via separate valuations of the conversion rights and the host contract. The fair value of the conversion rights were determined based
on a Monte Carlo simulation of the Company�s possible future stock prices, which drove potential conversion outcomes. Due to a lack of
comparable transactions by companies with similar credit ratings, the value of the host contract was determined by applying a risk-adjusted rate
of return to the annual dividend. At the date of the transaction, the Company recorded approximately 68% of the proceeds or $10.8 million (net
of the discount resulting from the allocation of the proceeds to the warrants) as preferred stock in stockholders� equity and the detached warrants
were recorded in additional paid-in capital at $5.2 million.

The Company determined that the embedded conversion option within the preferred stock was beneficial (had intrinsic value) to the holders of
the preferred stock. The intrinsic value of the conversion option was determined to be $5.2 million and was recognized as a beneficial
conversion discount with offset to additional paid-in capital at the date of the transaction.

The conversion period for the preferred stock was estimated to be 36 months based on an evaluation of the conversion options. The accretion of
the discount on the preferred stock recorded during the year ended December 31, 2009 was $1.3 million.

During March, 2010, holders of 2,780 shares of preferred stock elected conversion into 1,208,692 shares of the Company�s common stock (see
Note 19).

On March 31, 2010, the stock warrants were repriced because of their anti-dilution price protection as a result of share issuances in connection
with the Company�s amended and restated credit agreement (see Note 19).

Note 15�Capital Stock

The Company�s Certificate of Incorporation, as amended November 9, 2009, authorizes the Company to issue up to 80,000,000 shares of
common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 100,000 shares of one or more series of preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

On July 11, 2007, the Company effected a two-for-one common stock split in the form of a 100% stock dividend to stockholders of record as of
July 3, 2007. All share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the stock split.

Stock-Based Incentive Plans

Stockholders approved Long Term Incentive Plans in 2007, 2005 and 2003 (the �2007 Plan,� the �2005 Plan� and the �2003 Plan,� respectively) under
which the Company may grant equity awards to officers, key
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employees, and non-employee directors in the form of stock options, restricted stock and certain other incentive awards. The maximum number
of shares that may be issued under the 2007 Plan, 2005 Plan and 2003 Plan are 2,200,000, 1,900,000 and 1,400,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2009, the Company had 182,790 shares remaining to be granted under the 2007 Plan and 121,232 shares remaining to be granted
under the 2005 Plan. At December 31, 2009, options to purchase a total of 1,605,398 shares were outstanding under the Company�s Long Term
Incentive Plans.

Stock Options

All stock options have been granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of the Company�s common stock on the date of grant.
Options currently expire no later than ten years from the grant date and generally vest over four years or less. Proceeds received from exercises
of stock options are credited to common stock and additional paid-in capital. The Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vesting option
forfeitures and these estimates are adjusted when actual forfeitures differ from the estimate. Stock-based compensation expense is recorded only
for those awards that are expected to vest.

The fair value of stock-based awards on the date of grant is computed using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The risk free interest rate is
based on the implied yield of U.S. Treasury zero-coupon securities that correspond to the expected life of the option. Volatility was estimated
based on the historical and implied volatilities of the Company�s stock and a group of companies considered peers. The expected life of awards
granted represents the period of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The Company uses the �simplified� method which is allowed for
those companies that cannot reasonably estimate expected life of options based on its historical share option exercise experience. The Company
does not expect to pay dividends on its common stock. Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model for stock options granted were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

Risk-free interest rate 1.29% - 2.32% 2.30% 4.06% - 4.82%
Expected volatility of common stock 68.8% - 71.7% 47.0% 39.7% - 42.0%
Expected life of options in years 3.5* and 4.25 4.25 3.5 and 5.0
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Vesting period in years 0.4 - 4.0 4.0 1.0 - 4.0

* In 2009, a grant was made to an optionee for whom the Company was able to reasonably estimate the expected life of the award.
The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are
fully-transferable. Because option valuation models require the use of subjective assumptions, changes in these assumptions can materially
affect the fair value of the options. The Company�s options do not have the characteristics of traded options, and therefore, the option valuation
models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of options.
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A summary of stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 is as follows:

Options Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (in
years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2009 857,251 $ 9.57
Granted 1,240,132 1.99
Exercised (100,000) 0.30
Forfeited and expired (391,985) 6.12

Outstanding as of December 31, 2009 1,605,398 $ 5.13 7.61 $ 171,367

Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2009 1,532,958 $ 5.19 7.55 $ 168,842

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2009 481,411 $ 8.36 4.54 $ 71,367

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $1.07, $4.37
and $7.21 per share, respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
was $0.1 million, $9.0 million and $12.3 million, respectively. The total fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31,
2009, 2008 and 2007 was $0.4 million, $1.0 million and $0.0 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2009, there was $1.3 million of total measured but unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock options.
The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. The tax benefit realized from stock options exercised during
the year ended December 31, 2009 was not material.

Restricted Stock

The Company grants employees either time-vesting restricted shares or performance-based restricted shares under its Restricted Stock
Agreements (�RSAs�). Time-vesting restricted shares vest after a stipulated period of time after the grant date, generally four to five years. Certain
time-vested shares have been issued with a portion of the grant vesting immediately at the date of grant. Performance-based restricted shares are
issued with annual performance criteria defined over four-year performance periods and vest only when and if certain annual segment or
Company performance criteria are met. Grantees of restricted shares retain voting rights for the granted shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company awarded 894,006 RSAs to certain employees under the 2007 Plan. All of these RSAs
were time-vesting. A summary of restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2009 is as follows:

Restricted Stock Shares

Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value

Non-vested at January 1, 2009 233,498 $ 24.51
Granted 894,006 1.18
Vested (515,701) 2.32
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Forfeited (152,688) 5.72

Non-vested at December 31, 2009 459,115 $ 10.26

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company paid certain accrued bonuses through the issuance of 471,000 shares of restricted stock
which were immediately vested.
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value of shares of restricted stock granted during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 was
$1.18, $15.13 and $26.22, respectively. The total fair value of restricted stock vested during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
was $1.2 million, $2.2 million, and zero, respectively. At December 31, 2009, there was $4.0 million of unrecognized compensation expense
related to non-vested restricted stock. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

Non-cash share-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock grants was $1.7 million, $2.5 million and $1.7 million
during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Treasury Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company purchased 34,890 shares of its common stock in payment of income tax withholding
owed by employees upon vesting of restricted shares. Additionally, shares previously issued as restricted stock awards to employees were
forfeited during 2009 and accounted for as treasury stock. The Company accounts for treasury stock using the cost method and includes treasury
stock as a component of stockholders� equity.

The Company currently does not have or intend to initiate a share repurchase program.

Share Lending Agreement

Concurrent with the offering of the 5.25% convertible senior notes in February 2008, the Company entered into a share lending agreement (the
�Share Lending Agreement�) with Bear, Stearns International Limited (the �Borrower�). Under the Share Lending Agreement, the Company agreed
to loan 3,800,000 shares of common stock (the �Borrowed Shares�) to the Borrower during a period beginning February 11, 2008 and ending on
February 15, 2028. The Company may terminate the Share Lending Agreement earlier, upon written notice to the Borrower that the entire
principal balance of the convertible notes ceases to be outstanding or upon agreement with the Borrower. The Borrower is permitted to use the
Borrowed Shares only for the purpose of directly or indirectly facilitating the sale of the convertible senior notes and the establishment of hedge
positions by holders of the convertible senior notes. The Company did not require collateral in support of the Share Lending Agreement.

In February 2008, the Borrower borrowed all 3,800,000 shares available under the Share Lending Agreement. The number of shares is subject to
certain adjustments for stock dividends, stock splits or reverse stock splits which change the number of shares of common stock outstanding.
The Company did not receive any proceeds for the Borrowed Shares, but the Company did receive a nominal loan fee of $0.0001 for each share
loaned to the Borrower. The Borrower received all proceeds from any sale of Borrowed Shares pursuant to the Share Lending Agreement. Upon
conversion of the convertible senior notes, a number of Borrowed Shares proportional to the conversion rate for such notes must be returned to
the Company. Any borrowed shares returned to the Company cannot be re-borrowed.

The Borrowed Shares are issued and outstanding for corporate law purposes, and accordingly, the holders of the Borrowed Shares have all of the
rights of a holder of the Company�s outstanding shares, including the right to vote the shares on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders
and the right to receive any dividends or other distributions that the Company may pay or make on its outstanding shares of common stock.
However, under the Share Lending Agreement, the Borrower has agreed to pay to the Company, within one business day after the
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relevant payment date, an amount equal to any cash dividends that the Company pays on the Borrowed Shares, and to pay or deliver to the
Company, upon termination of the loan of Borrowed Shares, any other distribution, in liquidation or otherwise, that the Company makes on the
Borrowed Shares.

To the extent the Borrowed Shares lent under the Share Lending Agreement have not been sold or returned to the Company, the Borrower has
agreed that it will not vote any such borrowed shares of which it is the record owner. The Borrower has also agreed under the Share Lending
Agreement that it will not transfer or dispose of any borrowed shares, other than to its affiliates, unless such transfer or disposition is pursuant to
a registration statement that is effective under the Securities Act. However, investors that purchase the shares from the Borrower (and any
subsequent transferees of such purchasers) will be entitled to the same voting rights with respect to those shares as any other holder of common
stock.

In May 2008, JP Morgan Chase & Co. completed its acquisition of The Bear Stearns Companies Inc., at which time the Borrower became an
indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of JPMorgan Chase & Company.

Contractual undertakings of the borrower have the effect of substantially eliminating the economic dilution that otherwise would result from the
issuance of the borrowed shares, and all shares outstanding under the Share Lending Agreement are required to be returned to the Company in
the future. As a result, the shares of the Company�s stock lent under the Share Lending Agreement are not considered to be outstanding for the
purpose of computing and reporting earnings per share.

Note 16�Commitments and Contingencies

Class Action Litigation

On August 7, 2009, a class action suit was commenced in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas on behalf of
purchasers of the common stock of the Company between May 8, 2007 and January 23, 2008, inclusive, seeking to pursue remedies under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The complaint alleges that, throughout the time period indicated, the Company failed to disclose material
adverse facts about its true financial condition, business and prospects. Specifically, the complaint alleges that as a result of the failure to
disclose the adverse facts, the Company�s positive statements concerning guidance and prospects were lacking in a reasonable basis at all
relevant times. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on February 4, 2010 alleging misleading statements and material omissions in
connection with the Company�s earnings guidance for 2007 and the fourth quarter of 2007. The amended complaint does not quantify the alleged
actual damages.

Since August 7, 2009, several other class action suits have been commenced by others concerning the foregoing matters.

The Company intends to mount a vigorous defense to these claims. Discovery has not yet commenced. At this time, the Company is unable to
reasonably estimate the outcome of this litigation.

Other Litigation

The Company is subject to routine litigation and other claims that arise in the normal course of business. Management is not aware of any
pending or threatened lawsuits or proceedings which would have a material effect on the Company�s financial position, results of operations or
liquidity.
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Common Stock Listing on the New York Stock Exchange

The Company�s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). Under the NYSE�s continued listing standards, a company is
considered to be below compliance standards if, among other things, both its average global market capitalization is less than $50 million over a
30 trading-day period and its stockholders� equity is less than $50 million. The Company failed to meet this compliance standard during the
fourth quarter of 2009, and it was notified by the NYSE on December 28, 2009 that it had fallen below one of the continued listing standards.

In March 2010, the Company submitted a plan of action to the NYSE that outlines its plan to achieve compliance with the NYSE continued
listing standards within the 18-month cure period which ends in June 2011. During implementation and execution of the plan of action, the
Company�s common stock will continue to be listed on the NYSE, subject to the Company�s compliance with other NYSE continued listing
requirements.

Operating Lease Commitments

The Company has entered into operating leases for office space, vehicles and equipment. Future minimum lease payments under operating
leases at December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2010 $ 1,763
2011 1,487
2012 1,224
2013 452
2014 94
Thereafter 1,430

Total $ 6,450

Total rent expense under operating leases totaled approximately $2.3 million, $1.7 million and $1.5 million during the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

401(k) Retirement Plan

The Company maintains a 401(k) retirement plan for the benefit of eligible employees in the United States. All employees are eligible for the
plan upon date of employment. As of January 1, 2008, the Company increased its match to 100% of each employee�s 401(k) contribution up to
4% of qualified compensation. In April 2009, the Company discontinued matching employee�s 401(k) contributions. The consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31 2009, 2008 and 2007 include expense of approximately $322,000, $940,000 and $89,000,
respectively, related to the Company�s 401(k) match.

Concentrations and Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist of trade accounts receivable and
cash. The Company does not generally require collateral in support of its trade receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are maintained at one
major financial institution and the balances often exceed insurable amounts.
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Essentially all revenue is derived from the oil and gas industry. This concentration of customers in one industry increases credit and business
risk, particularly given the volatility of activity levels in the industry. Customers include major integrated oil and natural gas companies,
independent oil and natural gas companies, pressure pumping service companies and state-owned national oil companies. The Company�s top
three customers accounted for 22%, 26% and 25% of consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

Certain raw materials used by the Chemical and Logistics segment in the manufacture of micro-emulsion chemical sales are available from
limited sources. Certain mud-motor inventory parts in the Drilling Products segment and stock parts in the Artificial Lift segment are primarily
sourced from China.

Note 17�Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision-maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.

The Company has determined that there are three reportable segments:

� The Chemicals and Logistics segment is made up of two business units. The specialty chemical business unit designs, develops,
manufactures packages and sells chemicals used by oilfield service companies in oil and gas well drilling, cementing, stimulation
and production. The logistics business unit manages automated bulk material handling, loading facilities, and blending capabilities
for oilfield service companies.

� The Drilling Products segment rents, inspects, manufactures and markets downhole drilling equipment for the energy, mining, water
well and industrial drilling sectors.

� The Artificial Lift segment manufactures and markets artificial lift equipment which includes the Petrovalve line of beam pump
components, electric submersible pumps, gas separators, valves and services to support coal bed methane production.

The Company evaluates performance based on several factors, of which the primary financial measure is business segment income before taxes.
Certain functions, including certain sales and marketing activities and corporate general and administrative expenses, are provided centrally
from the corporate office. The costs of these functions, together with other expense and income tax provision (benefit), are not allocated to these
segments. The accounting policies of the business segments are the same as those described in �Note 2�Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.� Inter-segment sales are accounted for at fair value as if sales were to third parties. Intersegment revenues are not material.
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Summarized financial information concerning the segments as of and for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is shown in the
following table (in thousands):

Chemicals
and

Logistics
Drilling
Products

Artificial
Lift

Corporate
and
Other Total

2009
Net revenues from external customers $ 49,296 $ 50,774 $ 12,480 $ � $ 112,550
Gross margin 21,667 4,781 2,936 � 29,384
Income (loss) from operations 12,964 (32,084) 1,161 (15,144) (33,103) 
Depreciation and amortization 1,844 11,826 292 224 14,186
Total assets 33,053 119,960 7,084 18,513 178,610
Capital expenditures 291 6,189 42 33 6,555

2008
Net revenues from external customers $ 109,356 $ 98,262 $ 18,445 $ � $ 226,063
Gross margin 49,119 36,897 4,740 � 90,756
Income (loss) from operations 37,433 (43,840) (6,709) (17,635) (30,751) 
Depreciation and amortization 1,782 10,121 633 308 12,844
Total assets 44,060 176,287 16,104 (1,876) 234,575
Capital expenditures 2,464 19,840 293 1,114 23,711

2007
Net revenues from external customers $ 86,271 $ 56,836 $ 14,901 $ � $ 158,008
Gross margin 40,474 19,132 3,841 � 63,447
Income (loss) from operations 32,389 5,632 1,381 (9,716) 29,686
Depreciation and amortization 960 4,909 557 111 6,537
Total assets 42,849 97,730 17,827 2,387 160,793
Capital expenditures 6,313 8,532 653 174 15,672
One customer and its affiliates accounted for $18.7 million, $44.6 million and $32.8 million of consolidated revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Over 90% of this revenue related to sales by the Chemicals and Logistics segment.

Revenue by country is determined based on the location of services provided and products sold. Revenue by geographic location is as follows
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007

United States $ 97,737 $ 208,228 $ 150,433
Other countries 14,813 17,835 7,575

Total $ 112,550 $ 226,063 $ 158,008

Long-lived assets held in countries other than the U.S. are not material.
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Note 18�Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(in thousands, except per share data)
2009
Revenue $ 40,676 $ 23,503 $ 23,818 $ 24,553
Gross margin 12,491 3,647 6,404 6,842
Net loss (1,980) (19,793) (22,363) (6,569) 
Loss per share:
Basic (0.10) (1.01) (1.18) (0.41) 
Diluted (0.10) (1.01) (1.18) (0.41) 
2008
Revenue $ 46,471 $ 56,809 $ 62,787 $ 59,996
Gross margin 18,821 24,698 26,675 20,562
Net income (loss) 3,209 4,439 5,173 (46,982) 
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic 0.17 0.23 0.27 (2.45) 
Diluted 0.17 0.23 0.27 (2.45) 
Note 19�Subsequent Events

New Credit Agreement with Whitebox Advisors, LLC

On March 31, 2010, the Company executed an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Whitebox Advisors, LLC, as administrative agent
for a syndicate of lenders, for a $40 million term loan. This new senior credit facility refinanced the Company�s existing senior credit facility at
Wells Fargo Bank and provided net proceeds of $6.1 million to the Company.

The indebtedness under the new senior credit facility matures November 1, 2012 and has scheduled cash principal payments of $750,000 in
2010, $3,750,000 in 2011, $3,000,000 in 2012 with and the remaining unpaid principal balance due at maturity. Interest is payable quarterly.
The Company has the option to either pay the total amount of interest due in cash or to pay a portion of the interest in cash and capitalize the
balance of the interest, thereby increasing the principal amount of the new senior credit facility. The annualized cash interest rate is 12.5% when
the principal balance exceeds $30 million, 11.5% when the principal balance is $20 million or more but not in excess of $30 million, and 10.5%
when the principal balance is less than $20 million. If the Company elects to capitalize a portion of the interest, the annualized cash interest rate
is 8% and additional interest is capitalized and added to the principal amount of the new senior credit facility at a annualized rate of 6% when the
principal balance exceeds $30 million, 4.5% when the principal balance is $20 million or more but not in excess of $30 million, and 3.5% when
the principal balance is less than $20 million.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement requires additional mandatory principal payments of (a) 50% of EBITDA (earnings before
interest, taxes depreciation and amortization) in excess of $4.5 million in any fiscal quarter, (b) 50% of cash proceeds in excess of $5 million and
up to $15 million from certain asset disposals, plus 75% of cash proceeds in excess of $15 million from certain asset disposals, (c) 75% of any
Federal income tax refunds, and (d) $1 million of principal on quarterly payment dates, when the Company�s stock price is equal to or greater
than $1.27 per share, payable by issuing common stock (based on 95% of the volume-weighted average price of the common stock for the
preceding ten trading days).

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement provides for a commitment fee of $7,300,000, payable as follows: (a) $925,975 in cash at closing,
(b) $4,374,025 through the issuance of 3,431,133 shares of common stock at closing (based on 95% of the volume-weighted average price of the
common stock for the preceding ten trading
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days), (c) $1,000,000 payable in September 2010 in cash or common stock (based on 90% of the greater of the volume-weighted average price
of the common stock for the preceding ten trading days or $1.27 per share), and (d) $1,000,000 payable in March 2011 in cash or common stock
(based on 85% of the greater of the volume-weighted average price of the common stock for the preceding ten trading days or $1.27 per share).
The election as to whether the commitment fee for (c) and (d) is payable in cash or common stock is made by the Company if the
volume-weighted average price of the common stock is $1.00 or more per share and by the lenders if such average is less than $1.00 per share at
the payment date.

The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement does not contain a revolving line of credit facility or quarterly and annual financial covenants.
The credit agreement restricts the payment of dividends on the Company�s common stock without the prior written consent of the lenders.

Exchange Agreement for Convertible Senior Notes

On March 31, 2010, the Company executed an Exchange Agreement with Whitebox Advisors, LLC and the syndicate of lenders under the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement related to the Company�s new senior credit facility. The Exchange Agreement permits each lender to
exchange the Company�s convertible senior notes (See Note 9) which they hold, up to the principal amount of its participation in the new $40
million term loan, for new convertible senior secured notes and shares of the Company�s common stock.

The current 5.25% convertible senior notes due 2028 were issued in February 2008 (the �2008 Notes�). Upon closing of the exchange, investors
will receive, for each $1,000 principal amount of the 2008 Notes exchanged, (a) new 5.25% convertible senior secured notes due 2028 in a
principal amount of $900 (the �2010 Notes�) and (b) $50 in shares of the Company�s common stock (based on the greater of 95% of the
volume-weighted average price of the common stock for the preceding ten trading days or the closing price of the common stock on the day
before the closing. The 2010 Notes have the same interest rate, conversion rights, conversion rate, Company redemption rights and guarantees as
the 2008 Notes, except that in addition they are also secured by a second priority lien on substantially all of the Company�s assets.

The Company expects to exchange $40 million of convertible senior notes for the aggregate consideration of $36 million in new convertible
senior secured notes and $2 million in shares of the Company�s common stock. The Company expects to issue up to 1,568,867 shares of common
stock to satisfy the common stock component of the exchange.

Re-pricing of Stock Warrants

In connection with the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement related to the Company�s new senior credit facility, the stock warrants issued in
August 2009 in connection with the issuance of Series A cumulative convertible preferred stock (see Note 14) have been re-priced, effective
March 31, 2010. The exercisable warrants and the contingent warrants both contained anti-dilution price protection. As a result of this new
pricing, the Company now has outstanding warrants to purchase up to 10,480,000 shares of the Company�s common stock at an exercise price of
$1.27 per share.

Conversion of Preferred Stock

Each share of the Company�s cumulative convertible preferred stock is convertible at the holder�s option, at any time, into 434.782 shares of the
Company�s common stock (see Note 14). In March 2010, holders of 2,780 shares of preferred stock elected conversion into 1,208,692 shares of
the Company�s common stock. The conversions did not change the Company�s total stockholders� equity, and the Company did not receive any
proceeds from the conversions.

NYSE Continued Listing Requirements

On March 29, 2010, the NYSE agreed to accept the Company�s plan of action to the NYSE which the Company believes will allow it to achieve
compliance with the minimum listing requirements of the NYSE no later than June 28, 2011.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A(T). Controls and Procedures.
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports
filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC�s rules and forms. Our disclosure controls and procedures include controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to
management, including our principal executive and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures. There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the possibility of
human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls and procedures. Accordingly, even effective disclosure controls and procedures can
only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide such
reasonable assurance.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2009, as required by Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act. Based on that
evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective
as of December 31, 2009 due to the material weaknesses in internal control relating to the Company�s preparation of its financial statements.

Management�s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. It should be noted, however, that because of inherent limitations, any system of internal controls,
however well-designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that financial reporting objectives will be met. In
addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control�Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). As a result of that evaluation, our principal executive and principal financial
officer identified the following control deficiencies that constituted material weaknesses in connection with the preparation of our financial
statements as of December 31, 2009.

Control environment � We did not maintain an effective control environment. The control environment, which is the responsibility of senior
management, sets the tone of the organization, influences the control consciousness of its people, and is the foundation for all other components
of internal control over financial reporting. We did not maintain an effective control environment because of the following:

a) We did not maintain an appropriate level of senior management and Board level oversight related to financial reporting and internal
controls due to turnover in these positions during the year.
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b) We did not maintain a sufficient complement of personnel with an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience, and
training in the application of GAAP consistent with our financial reporting requirements.

c) We did not maintain sufficient controls related to the monthly financial close process. These control deficiencies included:

� inadequate analyses of variances in our statement of operations from expected and historical results;

� the absence of an adequate journal entry review process by supervisory accounting personnel; and

� excessive user access permissions within our accounting system.
Because of the material weaknesses described above, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not
effective in connection with the preparation of our financial statements during the year ended December 31, 2009.

Remediation Plan

Our management, under new leadership described below, has been actively engaged in planning for, and implementation of, remediation efforts
to address the material weaknesses, as well as other identified areas of risk. These remediation efforts, outlined below, are intended to address
the identified material weaknesses and to enhance our overall financial control environment.

� During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company restructured its executive management team in order to provide a better reporting
and control environment. Responsibilities were reassigned and an emphasis was placed on maintaining a tone and control
consciousness that consistently emphasizes adherence to accurate financial reporting and enforcement of policies and procedures.

The Company also appointed two new board members and appointed an existing board member to the audit committee, which successfully filled
the vacancies left by previous board member resignations.

� In December 2009, the Company hired a national executive services firm to perform an assessment of the Company�s finance and
accounting structure. Based upon this assessment, a team of independent consultants was assembled to address the immediate needs
identified. Their responsibilities include: (a) overseeing the preparation and filing of selected SEC documents, (b) reinforcing the
tactical accounting needs of the Company, (c) identifying and researching reporting issues, (d) assisting with the preparation and
modeling of future cash flow and financial forecasts, (e) advising senior management on any financial and accounting issues related
to strategic projects, (f) performing an analysis of the month-end close process along with an assessment of the current skill sets of
the accounting staff, and (g) recommending changes to the current accounting and finance organizational structure of the Company.

The Company is actively searching for permanent qualified employees to maintain the new accounting and finance functions established by the
Company.

� We are currently reviewing and implementing remediation steps surrounding the monthly variance analyses in our statement of
operations and the journal entry review processes. We have also identified and remediated the system access rights issues by
restricting each employee�s access rights and aligning them with current job responsibilities.

Our new executive management team, together with our Board of Directors, is committed to achieving and maintaining a strong control
environment, high ethical standards, and financial reporting integrity.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we began implementing some of the remedial measures described above, including the appointment of our
new executive management team and members of the Board of Directors. We have also performed an assessment of our financial business
processes and our accounting and finance department and have begun implementing the recommendations derived from this assessment.

Auditor Attestation Report

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. Management�s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to
temporary rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only management�s report on internal control in this annual report.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
Information under the caption �Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance,� which will be contained in our Definitive Proxy
Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of year end, is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Information under the caption �Executive Compensation,� which will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of year end, is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Information under the caption �Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters,� which will
be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of year end, is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Information under the caption �Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence,� which will be contained in our
Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of year end, is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
Information under the caption �Principal Accountant Fees and Services,� which will be contained in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2010
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed within 120 days of year end, is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
  3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for

the quarter ended September 30, 2007).

  3.2 Certificate of Designations for Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock dated August 11, 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on August 17, 2009).

  3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009).

  3.4 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Appendix F to the Company�s Definitive Proxy Statement filed on September 27, 2001).

  4.1 Form of Certificate of Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Appendix E to the Company�s Definitive Proxy Statement
filed on September 27, 2001).

  4.2 Form of Certificate of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the
Certificate of Designations for Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company�s Form
8-K filed on August 17, 2009).

  4.3 Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock of the Company, dated August 31, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.3 to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form SB-2 (file no. 333-129308) filed on October 28, 2005).

  4.4 Base Indenture, dated February 14, 2008, by and among the Company, the subsidiary guarantors named therein and American
Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on February 14,
2008).

  4.5 First Supplemental Indenture, dated February 14, 2008, by and among the Company, the subsidiary guarantors named therein
and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on
February 14, 2008).

  4.6 Form of Global Security (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the First Supplemental Indenture filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company�s Form 8-K filed on February 14, 2008).

  4.7 Form of Exercisable Warrant, dated August 11, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K
filed on August 17, 2009).

  4.8 Form of Contingent Warrant, dated August 11, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company�s Form 8-K
filed on August 17, 2009).

10.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, dated
August 31, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2009).

10.2 Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., dated
November 15, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company�s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2007).

10.3 Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., dated
February 4, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on February 7, 2008).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
10.4 Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National

Association, dated May 12, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on May 15, 2009).

10.5 2003 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Registration Statement on
Form S-8 filed on October 27, 2005).

10.6 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company�s Registration Statement on Form
S-8 filed on October 27, 2005).

10.7 2007 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company�s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007).

10.8 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated April 3, 2006, among Total Energy Technologies, LLC, USA Petrovalve, Inc. and Total Well
Solutions, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2006).

10.9 Exclusive License Agreement, dated April 3, 2006, among the Company, USA Petrovalve, Inc. and Total Well Solutions, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company�s Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2006).

10.10 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 6, 2006, among LifTech, LLC, its owners and USA Petrovalve, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company�s Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended June 30, 2006).

10.11 Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, dated October 5, 2006, between Turbeco, Inc. and the owner of a 50% interest in
CAVO Drilling Motors, Ltd Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 10-QSB for the quarter
ended September 30, 2006).

10.12 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 17, 2006, among Teal Supply Co., dba Triumph Drilling Tools, Inc., Turbeco Inc.
and Michael E. Jensen (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company�s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006).

10.13 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated August 31, 2007, among the Company, SES Holdings, Inc. and the stockholders thereof
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007).

10.14 Assignment of Membership Interest, dated November 15, 2007, between Turbeco, Inc. and the owner of the remaining 50%
interest in CAVO Drilling Motors, Ltd Co. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company�s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007).

10.15 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated February 4, 2008, by and among Teledrift Acquisition, Inc., the Company, Teledrift, Inc. and
the stockholders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on February 7,
2008).

10.16 Share Lending Agreement among the Company, Bear Stearns & Co. Inc. and Bear Stearns International Limited (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on February 13, 2008).

10.17 Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2008, among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and the Lenders
named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2009).

10.18 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated March 31, 2008, among the Company and the subsidiaries named therein, in favor of
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2008).
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
10.19 Guaranty Agreement, dated March 31, 2008, among the guarantors named therein, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the Lenders named

therein, the Issuing Lender named therein and the Swap Counterparties named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008).

10.20 First Amendment and Temporary Waiver, dated February 25, 2009, among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association and the Lenders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on
March 3, 2009).

10.21 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated March 13, 2009, among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and the
Lenders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2009).

10.22 Third Amendment and Waiver to Credit Agreement, dated August 6, 2009, among the Company, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and
the Lenders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2009).

10.23 Waiver Agreement and Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated November 16, 2009, among the Company, Wells Fargo
Bank, N.A. and the Lenders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company�s Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2009).

10.24 Separation and Release Agreement, dated August 5, 2008, between Lisa Meier and the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on August 6, 2008).

10.25 Form of Unit Purchase Agreement, dated August 11, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form
8-K filed on August 12, 2009).

10.26 Retirement Agreement, dated August 11, 2009, between Jerry D. Dumas, Sr. and the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2009).

10.27 Employment Agreement, dated August 11, 2009, between the Company and Jesse Neyman (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2009).

10.28 Service Agreement, dated August 11, 2009, among Chisholm Management, Inc., Protechnics II, Inc. and the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on August 12, 2009).

10.29 Employment Agreement, dated September 1, 2009, between the Company and Scott Stanton (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company�s Form 8-K filed on September 17, 2009).

12* Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends.

21* List of Subsidiaries.

23* Consent of UHY LLP.

31.1* Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

31.2* Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

32.1* Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

32.2* Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FLOTEK INDUSTRIES, INC.

By: /s/    JOHN W. CHISHOLM

John W. Chisholm
Interim President

Date: March 31, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ JOHN W. CHISHOLM

John W. Chisholm

Interim President (Principal Executive Officer) March 31, 2010

/s/ JESSE E. NEYMAN

Jesse E. Neyman

Executive Vice President, Finance and Strategic
Planning (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2010

/s/ JERRY D. DUMAS, SR.

Jerry D. Dumas, Sr.

Chairman March 31, 2010

/s/ KENNETH T. HERN

Kenneth T. Hern

Director March 31, 2010

/s/ JOHN REILAND

John Reiland

Director March 31, 2010

/s/ RICHARD O. WILSON

Richard O. Wilson

Director March 31, 2010
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